

BETWEEN PROGRESSIVENESS AND SILENCE: STRUCTURAL RACISM AGAINST AFRO-DESCENDANT POPULATIONS IN THE INTER-AMERICAN COURT OF HUMAN RIGHTS JURISPRUDENCE (ARGENTINA, BRAZIL, AND COLOMBIA)

by Bruna Rafaela de Santana Santos

LLM Human Rights/ Final Thesis SUPERVISOR: Juliana Cesario Alvim Gomes Central European University - Private University

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY (OR ABSTRACT)

Although one in four Latin Americans identifies as people of African descent –120 million of Latin America's 500 million population – afro-descendant people are among the region's marginalized groups. Discrimination, economic exclusion, poorest, most underrepresentation in government, civil society, and the media are critical factors in the overrepresentation Afro-descendants low-income of among people and their underrepresentation and exclusion in decision-making positions in the private and public sectors. Concurrently, the Inter-American Court of Human Rights has used its case law to combat inequality and social exclusion and advance substantive equality. This study will look into the Inter-American Court's rulings that dealt with structural racism or discrimination against populations of African Descent to understand the Court's perspective on the issue, as well as changes in how the American Convention on Human Rights' Articles 1.1 and 24 have been interpreted in recent years, and the general idea of equality and non-discrimination. The methodology will focus on the jurisprudence of the Court case-law related to Brazil, Colombia, and Argentina, as the first two have large African-descendant populations in their demographic composition, and the last has publicly recognized the impact of systemic racism in its functioning. The research offers human rights activities a tool to assess what is lacking and what can be improved in cases related to systemic racism against the African descendant population in Latin America, particularly concerning the legal classification (e.g., what are the violated rights?). Finally, the work considers that democracies around Latin America would benefit from applying the interpretation model of rights adopted by the Court in cases related to forced disappearances to cases concerning systemic racism against African descent in the region. This reconfiguration is indispensable for this group's due human rights protection and more significant social and economic opportunities.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This thesis is entirely based on acknowledgments. I would not have done anything, written a single word, without the unwavering support of those around me.

First and foremost, I would like to thank the beating heart outside my body: my dad, Claudio Eduardo, my mom, Telma Santos, and my brother, Claudio Eduardo Filho (for me, Dudu). Everything is *because* of you as much as everything is *for* you. A big thank you to my grandmothers, Rosa Alice Santos and Rute Santana, as well as my aunts, Patricia Santos, Georgina, and Aldaci Santana, for teaching, caring, and loving.

To my friends, old, new, and in-between, for showing me a revolutionary kind of love that puts me out of myself in devotion and holds me to the ground in humbleness. Thank you Gabriel Leao, Marina Guimaraes, Ana Julia, Natalia Garcia, Gabriel Esteves, Bruno Biscaia, Marina Muniz, Carolina Muniz, Marina Almeida, Laiane Moraes, Taislaine Bittencourt, Ina Tavares, Douglas Viana, Raisa Santos, Nathalia Rodrigues and Ginmayma Faedo. There is something of you in every word of this thesis. To all of those I could not mention here, thank you! As Emicida would say, "nem todo mundo que é, tá".

Thank you, Juliana Gomes (also known as my supervisor), for your incredible patience and support. It was amazing having you as a mentor.

Particularly, thank you to all of the gods, God, orixás, entities, ancestors, energies, and astrological signs, for your sleepless endeavor to keep me protected. By now, I cannot deny your work. It keeps me believing, despite my skeptical tendencies.

Last but not least, as it is becoming tradition, thank you, Bruna (me!), for continuing. You kept going through all the doubts, uncertainties, crises and anxiety. I'm forever grateful for you.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction
STRUCTURAL RACISM IN LATIN AMERICA
The relationship between Law and Race in Latin America: a global, regional, and
transregional movement enforcing racial exclusion
The turning point of racial relations in Latin America: The mestizaje ideology and its
implications18
The process of contestation and resistance of social movements in the region: an overview
of the main struggles and response of Afro-descendant movement to structural racism22
a. Argentina25
b. Brazil28
c. Colombia32
JURISPRUDENCE OF THE INTER-AMERICAN COURT OF HUMAN RIGHTS
RELATED TO AFRO-DESCENDANT POPULATIONS AND STRUCTURAL RACISM 36
A brief introduction to the Inter-American System of protection
The Inter-American Court of Human Rights' role in Latin America
Argentinian Case (Case "Acosta Martínez and others v. Argentina, Judgment of August 31
2020)
Summary of the case
The Commission's claims
The petitioners' claims44
The Court's standing

Conclusion48
Brazilian Cases (Favela Nova Brasília V. Brasil, Judgment of February 16, 2017;
Empregados da Fábrica de Fogos de Santo Antônio de Jesus V. Brasil, Judgment of July 15,
2020; Trabalhadores da Fazenda Brasil Verde V. Brazil, Judgment of October 20, 2016) 53
Summary of the case53
i. " Trabalhadores da Fazenda Brasil Verde V. Brazil" (2016) and
"Empregados da Fábrica de Fogos de Santo Antônio de Jesus V. Brasil" (2021) .53
ii. Favela Nova Brasília v. Brasil (2018)54
The Commission's claims55
iii. "Trabalhadores da Fazenda Brasil Verde V. Brazil" (2016) and
"Empregados da Fábrica de Fogos de Santo Antônio de Jesus V. Brasil" (2021)55
iv. Favela Nova Brasília v. Brasil (2018)59
The petitioners' claims60
i. "Trabalhadores da Fazenda Brasil Verde V. Brasil" (2016) and
"Empregados da Fábrica de Fogos de Santo Antônio de Jesus V. Brasil" (2021)60
ii. Favela Nova Brasília v. Brasil (2018)63
The Court's standing64
iii. "Caso Trabalhadores da Fazenda Brasil Verde V. Brasil" (2016) and
"Empregados da Fábrica de Fogos de Santo Antônio de Jesus V. Brasil" (2021)64
iv. Favela Nova Brasília v. Brasil (2018)69
Conclusion70
Colombian Case [Caso de las comunidades afrodescendientes desplazadas de la Cuenca del
Río Cacarica (Operación Génesis), Judgment of November 20, 2013]75

Summary of the case	75
The Commission's claims	77
The petitioners' claims	81
The Court's standing	85
Conclusion	88
COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS of the cases INVOLVING ARGENTINA,	BRAZIL AND
COLOMBIA	93
Closing remarks	95
Evaluation of the Court's jurisprudence on structural racism	95
Moving Forward: opportunities in a bridge between the forced disapp	earance model
and structural racism	99
Conclusion	103
Bibliography	107

INTRODUCTION

In terms of the general population, it is fair to conclude that a great deal of Latin America's citizens is non-white. What is surprisingly shocking for many people is that Latin America is also very black. Or at least that African-descendant populations are very prominent in the region.

Despite having the numerical upper hand, African-descendant populations are overlooked by many of the States in the region and ultimately by the Inter-American Court of Human rights (hereinafter "The Court," "Court," or "Tribunal"). The former is considered a beacon for progressiveness and protection of human rights. However, jurisprudence is scarce on matters related to African-descendant populations. Concerning the latter, silence is the rule for the Court.

The absence is more acutely seen in the Court's decisions relating to States that have been at the forefront of the discussions regarding racial oppression in the region, such as Argentina, Brazil, and Colombia. In all these jurisdictions, the human rights discourse has been pivotal for African-descendant social movements¹. Moreover, those countries have been active in the institutional human rights framework of the region, actively engaging with the Inter-American System of Human Rights (IASHR) for matters concerning racial equality². Finally, they were parties to cases decided by the Court in which the petitioners, the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights (herein after "IAHCR", or "Commission"), or the State flagged to the Court that the issue at hand was intertwined with structural racism.

¹ Caribe, Pueblos indígenas y afrodescendientes de América Latina y el Caribe, 63.

² Hooker, "Afro-Descendant Struggles for Collective Rights in Latin America," 287.

This study will investigate the decisions issued by the Court that discussed structural racism or discrimination against African-Descendant populations to understand the Court's approach towards the phenomenon and the developments in the interpretation of Articles 1.1 and 24 of the American Convention of Human Rights (hereinafter "The Convention") and the principle of nondiscrimination and equality.

By focusing on the jurisprudence of the Court, the research will only have a fraction of the Inter-American System of Human Rights understanding concerning structural racism, as it will lose sight of the Commission's role in that regard. The IACHR has been pivotal in developing the matter in the region through the analysis of cases, elaboration of reports, and organization of hearings, for example³. The Court's role, on the other hand, is still unclear. There is still little research on the decisions issued by the Court concerning structural racism related to African-Descendant populations. This study intends to uncover this exact issue.

In the first chapter, I study the unique process of racial stratification in Latin America and its relation with legislation. In the region, two elements were co-constitutive in this sense: i) the mestizaje ideology, which worsened racial imbalances by denying the existence of racism and promoting mixed-race individuals as the symbol of the nations; ii) the naturalization and institutionalization of racial exclusion through law. Likewise, I briefly demonstrate how Afro Descendant communities used the human rights language to contest and resist structural racism. Finally, I provide a general overview of how structural racism manifested in Argentina, Brazil, and Colombia to highlight the biggest challenges in the quest for racial equality in each country.

In the second chapter, I investigate all of the cases that Argentina, Brazil, and Colombia were part of in which Afro-descendant populations or individuals were mentioned. The research was

³ See the Commission's report on Economic, social, cultural, and environmental rights of Afro-descendants, in which the IACHR drafts standards for the prevention, combating and eradication of structural racism: "Derechos económicos, sociales, culturales y ambientales de las personas afrodescendientes."

restricted to cases judged by the Court that explicitly cited Afro-descendant individuals. The analysis considers the written manifestations of the petitioners, the Commission, and the State, to assess the depth in which structural racism was handled during the litigation but ultimately focuses on the Court's decision and interpretation.

In the third chapter, I evaluate how (and if) the Court addresses structural racism in the cases, expose the shortcomings in those approaches, and propose a possible bridge to the found gaps based on the model constructed by the Court to address forced disappearances.

In this research, I will adopt the term structural racism. I use Bonilla-Silva (1997)'s general concept of racialized social systems to define "societies in which economic, political, social, and ideological levels are partially structured by placement of actors in racial categories or races" ⁴. This new concept accounts for a structural foundation of racism from which hierarchical patterns are built. Those patterns are not unique – other structuration such as class and gender also generate inequalities - but acquire autonomy and singular effects ⁵. Simply put, the racial social system creates hierarchical racial categories that produce social relations and the racial structure of a society. This system – or rather, those relations – grants economic, social, and even psychological advantages (and disadvantages) based on race ⁶.

Based on those premises, I argue that while race is the invented category that organizes social relations and informs social relations of subordination, racism is the crystallization of this ideology in the social system, with the subsequent normalization of actions along racial lines⁷. Structural racism accounts for this system: it is a social order in which all actors are hierarchically racialized and, therefore, all practices, cultures, mechanisms, and institutions act

⁴ Bonilla-Silva, "Rethinking Racism," 469.

⁵ Bonilla-Silva, 473.

⁶ Bonilla-Silva, 474; Almeida and Ribeiro, *Racismo estrutural*, 32.

⁷ Bonilla-Silva, "Rethinking Racism," 474.

along racial lines. Consequently, race becomes an informing point of all actions, be it conscious or unconsciously, and thus the racial phenomena become the natural outcome of the structure of the society. The subordinate group is placed in a disadvantageous social order because this is the place they are naturally directed toward in the racialized process⁸.

Perhaps the most valuable lesson of this approach is its new interpretation regarding the relation of prejudice, discrimination, and structural racism. According to the concept, both prejudice and discrimination are only a fracture of structural racism⁹. The notion of discrimination has always been behavioral. As usually conceptualized, it refers to practice —behaving discriminatorily towards a group of people¹⁰. The new concept of structural racism, as odd as that may seem, marginalize the concept of discrimination¹¹. Instead of following the historical trend of putting the concept in the centrality of the debate, the structural approach rather highlights the normative actions that reproduce and maintain the racial organization of life. Instead of researching the racist action, the approach attends to the racist culture¹². In that way, structural racism pays as much attention to the practice of racial profiling by the police and governmental authorities or the maintenance of all-white neighborhoods, even in the absence of official segregation norms, as it does to the use of slurs to forcefully impede racial minorities from entering a restaurant. The difference is only that the former pertains to the racist culture while the latter refers to overt discrimination.

Similarly, the structural understanding shows how tactics to reverse discrimination are insufficient to tackle structural racism. In this sense, Eduardo Bonilla-Silva (2021) understands that normative, everyday behaviors have a larger impact on racial affairs than overt

⁸ Bonilla-Silva, 473.

⁹ Almeida and Ribeiro, *Racismo estrutural*, 34.

¹⁰ Quillian, "New Approaches to Understanding Racial Prejudice and Discrimination," 301.

¹¹ Bonilla-Silva, "What Makes Systemic Racism Systemic?," 515.

¹² Bonilla-Silva, 515.

discrimination¹³. The statement is only understandable as we retake his definition of racial structures. They are flexible, everlasting, and determined by social struggles (processes of racial stratification and contestation). This dynamic, throughout time, allowed overt discriminatory acts to acquire a stigma (as something irrational and unlawful), which in turn prompted a methodological response from institutions ¹⁴. It is hard to find any State that condones discrimination in the explicit model adopted during the South African Apartheid or the United States' Jim Crow laws.

Conversely, having them recognize the different practices, rules, devices, and discourses that maintain racial domination is not easy. This silence is a tool that keeps the racial stratification machine going¹⁵. In this sense, structural racism is the clear detachment of racism from the limitations of ideologies, behaviors, or even consciousness. Once again, it is not that they don't matter –they are only small pieces of a big machinery.

Bottom line, adopting the structural approach means recognizing that a system is required to dismantle another¹⁶. This process begins with naming the problem accurately, uncovering how it operates, and mobilizing actors to confront the pervasive consequences of racial stratification¹⁷. I depart from Jones (2002)'s lessons on measuring institutionalized racism to identify three essential features concerning addressing structural racism: identification, monitoring, and rebuilding¹⁸. Identification means the documentation of the factors leading to racial stratification. This would be as much a historical evaluation as a contemporary mapping of factors that lead to racial divisions¹⁹.

¹³ Bonilla-Silva, 516.

¹⁴ Bonilla-Silva, 516.

¹⁵ Jones, "Confronting Institutionalized Racism," 10.

¹⁶ McCluney et al., "From 'Calling in Black' to 'Calling for Antiracism Resources," 52.

¹⁷ Jones, "Confronting Institutionalized Racism," 7.

¹⁸ Jones, 16.

¹⁹ Jones, 18.

On the other hand, monitoring refers to the examination of policies, laws, structures, institutions, or mechanisms that maintain racism. This phase would entail the analysis of policies that are in place and those that are absent²⁰. Finally, rebuilding means developing national campaigns aimed at dismantling racism. In this instance, the focus shall be the structures and processes that maintain institutionalized racism²¹.

On the other hand, the scope of the research is also its greatest limitation. Based on international law, the Inter-American System approach to racial justice carries colonialism ideals²². As Tzouvala (2020) mentioned, "the relationship between international law and racism reveals itself to be co-constitutive as much as it is antagonistic." ²³. Because of that, as indigenous internationalists have developed it, the ideal would be to work with, against, and beyond international law²⁴. Translating this to racial discussions: recognizing human rights is an insufficient fragment of emancipation. However, I understand that the path to transformation is filled with different fragments – individually, they are insufficient; collectively, they make a difference. This is one of the fragments the scholarship needs to unveil, and for which I was willing to contribute.

-

²⁰ Jones, 18.

²¹ Jones, 19.

²² Mutua, "Critical Race Theory and International Law," 843.

²³ Tzouvala, "Settler Colonialism, Race, and the Law," 9.

²⁴ Tzouvala, 15.

STRUCTURAL RACISM IN LATIN AMERICA

Latin America is a region of contrasts. It is marked by a rich racial and ethnic²⁵ diverse composition. However, diversity is not – it has been not – translated to equality. Afrodescendants, for example, compose at least 120 million of the region's 500 million population but are mostly concentrated at the bottom of the class structure²⁶. Racial discrimination and structural racism are ultimately mixed with the region's features.

A great deal of scholarship recognizes that, albeit undeniably present in Latin America, structural racism is not homogeneously manifested in the region²⁷. While some countries are marked by strong negative stereotypes associated with indigenous and Afro-descendant populations, others institutionalized racist practices through authoritarian political power or carried out racial massacres and widespread incorporation of racist ideologies in the political institutions²⁸.

To understand the way that racial stratification was uniquely built in the region, three aspects must be understood: i) how law and race were influenced by and influenced global, regional, and transregional patterns; ii) the mestizaje ideology and iii) the process of contestation and resistance of social movements in the region.

²⁵ On the choice between racial or ethnic identity, I adhere to the differentiation that the scholarship draws between them. As a rule, Latin American scholarship refers to racial identity to examine Afro-descendant communities and ethnic identity to examine indigenous peoples' rights. See, in this sense: Hernandez, "Afrodescendants, Law, and Race in Latin America," 3.

²⁶ Freire et al., "Afro-descendants in Latin America," 16; Caribe, Situación de las personas afrodescendientes en América Latina y desafíos de políticas para la garantía de sus derechos, 9; "Derechos económicos, sociales, culturales y ambientales de las personas afrodescendientes," 32.

²⁷ Pombo, "Estudios sobre el racismo en América Latina," 294.

²⁸ Pombo, 294.

The relationship between Law and Race in Latin America: a global, regional, and transregional movement enforcing racial exclusion

In Latin America, Law has been historically used to naturalize and legitimize racial discrimination²⁹. However, as the use of law differed from those of the United States or South Africa, where *de jure* segregation systems were installed, Latin America was framed as the realm of constitutional and legal idealism³⁰.

The comparisons are not completely out of place. As developed in the United States and South Africa, in Latin America, the ideological construction of race aimed at rationalizing the transatlantic slavery and subjugation of Native Americans within the colonization³¹. As an ideology, it crossed borders and represented, in Quijano's (2000)'s words, "*a global model of control of work*." In this sense, the regime of racial stratification embedded a transregional regime based on colonialism, white supremacy, enslavement, and economic exploitation. Legislation – and the structure behind it – justified and legitimized colonization and race-based inequalities along the same patterns, regardless of the geographic limitations³².

This global perspective allowed the interchangeability of customs and practices across different nations. In this sense, legal frameworks in different contexts were often similar and mutually dependent. In Latin America, national legal frameworks concerning race followed and influenced regional tendencies, including the ways established in Haiti, the United States, Spain, and the United Kingdom.

As Góngorra-Mera (2012) explained:

(...) National patterns of social exclusion are influenced by domestic legal frameworks, but such frameworks are usually consistent with other interrelated legal

²⁹ Góngora-Mera, "Transnational Articulations of Law and Race in Latin America: A Legal Genealogy of Inequality," 9.

³⁰ Góngora-Mera, 11.

³¹ Góngora-Mera, 12.

³² Góngora-Mera, 12.

frameworks at different levels beyond the state (regional, transregional, global); such regimes are mutually dependent and may directly influence state behavior and exert a transnational disciplinary power oriented for normalizing differences³³.

Nonetheless, similarities and influences are not always translated into copies. In other words: legislation in Latin American states was influenced by regional, transregional, and global trends but constituted a singular form. For example, different from the United States, legislation in the region ended slavery and provided some protection towards ethno-racial groups. This does not mean, however, that the continent was a beacon of progressiveness. In fact, regarding racial hierarchies, the legal arrangements acted through hindrance or normalization. Thus, legislation hid the real situation of ethno-racial groups through the enactment of ineffective legislation, the unequal application of the law, or normalized racial hierarchies and transregional race-based inequalities³⁴.

Before the independence movements, protective measures enacted to prevent the massacre of Native groups of African descendants' populations were purposefully not enforced³⁵. The colonial powers adopted leniency as a tool. From protective measures enacted by the Spanish Crown to prevent the destruction of the Native groups to the ones enacted by France concerning enslaved Africans, the pattern remained the same: the colonial powers established a culture of noncompliance, nonenforcement, and selectively. The law was applied along social and racial status³⁶. Consequently, the most vulnerable groups remained unprotected.

Another feature of the relationship between law and race was the practice of purchasing higher racial status through the negotiation of racial identity³⁷. In this context, the law allowed individuals to gain 'whiteness' status and, therefore, social privileges. Legislation, then, naturalized race-based inequalities, as it institutionalized racial hierarchies (the status of white

³³ Góngora-Mera, 16.

³⁴ Góngora-Mera, 16.

³⁵ Góngora-Mera, 18.

³⁶ Góngora-Mera, 19.

³⁷ Góngora-Mera, 19.

or nonwhite defined one's access to goods and services) and created possibilities of mobility within the established hierarchy based on race³⁸.

The independence movements slightly shifted the dynamics. The rising nation-States needed to create a national identity³⁹. However, because the independence movements were dominated by the white creole elite and driven by the maintenance of the social status quo and racist regime, much of the efforts followed European models of legal structure. Those models replicated a national project based on western, catholic, and white Europeans and therefore excluded Natives and afro descendants⁴⁰.

Moreover, the legislation and structures behind it, based on European ideas of homogeneity and nationalism as they were, proved incompatible with the divisions established by colonialism in Latin America and crippled the application of the principle of equality under the conditions of post-colonial societies⁴¹.

Quijano (2000) is the one that explains this process the best:

Homogenization was achieved not by means of the fundamental democratization of social and political relations, but by the exclusion of a significant part of the population, one that since the sixteenth century had been racially classified and marginalized from citizenship and democracy. Given these original conditions, democracy and the nation-state could not be stable and firmly constituted. The political history of these countries, especially from the end of the 1960s until today, cannot be explained at the margin of these determinations ⁴².

In addition, the region was generally influenced by patterns created in the United States and Haiti concerning nationality and citizenship: on the one hand, the United States practice of silence (the Constitution did not prohibit racial discrimination, slavery or declare all individuals

³⁹ Góngora-Mera, 20.

³⁸ Góngora-Mera, 19.

⁴⁰ Góngora-Mera, 20.

⁴¹ Góngora-Mera, 20.

⁴² Quijano and Ennis, "Coloniality of Power, Eurocentrism, and Latin America," 564.

as citizens); on the other Haitian Constitution declared all citizens black⁴³. The aftermath of the duality was, in Góngorra-Mera's (2012) words, that Latin American countries, when regulating race and citizenship, changed everything so that everything stayed the same⁴⁴.

The countries indeed stepped away from the two opposite radical patterns adopted in the United States and Haiti. Generally, the Latin American states adopted the principle of equality before the law, refrained from restrictions of citizenship based on race, and prohibited slavery⁴⁵. They did not adopt silence or radicalization. The chosen path was a certain neutrality - States included provisions establishing equality in a region marked by selectivity and noncompliance without mention of legal intervention to correct the already existent racial stratifications⁴⁶. In this sense, they adopted omission in a region that demanded firm actions. According to Góngorra-Mera (2012), "in the absence of special measures in favor of disadvantaged groups, this legal veil covered the persistence of structural discrimination"⁴⁷. By doing so, these stratifications were maintained.

Even within the law, the duality between discourse and practice is another distinctive feature in Latin America. While most of the countries included the formal equality principle, prohibited slavery, and formally recognized citizenship for all people, therefore proclaiming inclusiveness, many adopted legislation for the promotion of immigration of desirable races and the discouragement of immigration from certain nations⁴⁸. In this sense, for many decades, Latin American States restricted African and/or Asian immigration and welcomed European migrants⁴⁹. Following the success of those policies, the States reoriented their strategy towards

⁴³ Góngora-Mera, "Transnational Articulations of Law and Race in Latin America: A Legal Genealogy of Inequality," 21.

⁴⁴ Góngora-Mera, 22.

⁴⁵ Góngora-Mera, 23.

⁴⁶ Góngora-Mera, 24.

⁴⁷ Góngora-Mera, 24. ⁴⁸ Góngora-Mera, 25.

⁴⁹ Góngora-Mera, 25.

a rhetoric of mestizaje ideology. Although the meaning and extent of this ideology will be explored in the next chapter, it is important to highlight that it served as a process of racial and cultural assimilation that contributed to the marginalization of ethno-racial groups and, thus, their marginalization.

It is clear, therefore, that in Latin America, law historically naturalized and institutionalized racial exclusion. Albeit having refrained from articulating segregation legislation as conceived in the United States, law in Latin America played a key role in the racialization of the society and the enforcement of coloniality. After the independence movements, the discourse of racial harmony camouflaged a regime intended to be used as the official means of carrying out a process of racial and cultural assimilation. Ethnoracial groupings were made invisible in national statistics and, as a result, in public policies, strengthening the colonial legacy of structural discrimination⁵⁰.

The turning point of racial relations in Latin America: The mestizaje ideology and its implications

Many authors have denied their existence as racial hierarchies in Latin America are blatantly different from their shapes in the United States and Europe⁵¹. Following the European colonization and widespread enforcement of slave Africans, many countries in the region adopted national projects of *mestizaje* (cultural mixing). These projects sold the idea of erasing racial distinctions by promoting mixed-race individuals as the nation's symbol⁵². The project was effectively implemented: scholars noted high intermarriage and residential proximity rates and the use of elements derived from African and indigenous culture within the national

_

⁵⁰ Góngora-Mera, 28.

⁵¹ Pombo, "Estudios sobre el racismo en América Latina," 290.

⁵² Telles and Bailey, "Understanding Latin American Beliefs about Racial Inequality," 1560.

folklore⁵³. Based on the misguidance that the numbers provided, some authors claimed that the idea of mestizaje indicated evidence of higher racial tolerance in Latin America compared with the United States.

However, a great share of scholarship warned that the mestizaje ideology was not far off from colonialism and racism: it meant to promote whitening, wiping out black and indigenous identities, denying the pre-existent racial tensions, and weakening antiracist mobilization⁵⁴. If a society doesn't recognize a stiff between social groups – if it denies the conflict -, then it denies the structures that maintain those tensions and refrains from the call for significant changes. In this sense, mestizaje is yet another layer of structural racism aimed at maintaining the racial and ethnic status quo.

Nevertheless, the mestizaje ideology is arguably the strongest turning point in Latin America's racial hierarchies. It was not a deviation from racism or the race theory at that time, by which blacks, indigenous, and mullatos were regarded as inferior. However, as it promised to promote national unification, it was easily sold out as a mode of governance⁵⁵. This model took the form of a unitary package of citizenship rights that could only be enjoyed by the conformation to the homogenous mestizo cultural idea⁵⁶. However, there was always a discrepancy between official discourse and practice in Latin America regarding racism. Often, when directly asked, people would reject racial discrimination, while data would show general social and economic inequalities across racial groups⁵⁷. This disparity refers back to the divergence in which the mestizaje ideology was born: where, on the one hand, state nationalism would vouch for the existence of a unitary, homogenous community; on the other, social and cultural practices

⁵³ Telles and Bailey, 1560.

Telles and Bailey, 1561; Pombo, "Estudios sobre el racismo en América Latina," 294.
 Telles and Bailey, "Understanding Latin American Beliefs about Racial Inequality," 1563.

⁵⁶ Telles and Bailey, 1563.

⁵⁷ Pombo, "Estudios sobre el racismo en América Latina," 294.

would expose wide racist symbolisms and costumes⁵⁸. In this sense, the mestizaje ideology was ultimately the wolf in sheep's clothing: it promised progressiveness but, in reality, was a racial project based on the forced assimilation of indigenous and afro descendants' populations.

The outcome of the ideology varied significantly. In Argentina, the project was rejected in the name of another based on the pursuit of whiteness through European migration⁵⁹. On the other hand, in Brazil, the project was incorporated into ideologies of national identity through cultural and educational campaigns⁶⁰. In Colombia, the ideology unfolded in a discourse of a homogenous (white) nation that, at the same time, maintained the image of a heterogenous nation marked by distinctions of class, race, and region⁶¹. As a result, the ideas of mestizaje covered, at least formally, the racial tensions and marginalization of nonwhite populations.

Ultimately, the mestizaje ideology retarded racial mobilization in the region insofar as it masked the structural causes of racial stratification and therefore promoted color blindness and denied the existence of racism⁶². Practically, the ideology prompted an avoidance of linking economic and social marginalization to race while maintaining unscathed the same structures that maintained that marginalization⁶³. Therefore, the region generally denies the systematic disadvantaged based on race and only slowly and sparsely furthers multiculturalism.

The effects of the mestizaje ideology in the present are a general indifference to racial dynamics and denial of racial struggles, which translates to the absence of institutional addressing of race-related disadvantages⁶⁴. Moreover, the ideology singularly impacted afro descendants. Under the realm of new multiculturalist citizenship regimes, indigenous populations have been

⁵⁸ Pombo, 294.

⁵⁹ Graham et al., The Idea of Race in Latin America, 1870-1940, 39.

⁶⁰ Telles and Bailey, "Understanding Latin American Beliefs about Racial Inequality," 1563.

⁶¹ Wade, "Repensando el mestizaje," 280.
62 Telles and Bailey, "Understanding Latin American Beliefs about Racial Inequality," 1566.

⁶³ Telles and Bailey, 1566.

⁶⁴ Safa, "Challenging Mestizaje," 309.

recognized more than Afro-descendants, as the former is more likely to be perceived as having cultural distinctiveness⁶⁵. Consequently, inclusionary efforts by Afro-descendants have been restrained systematically. Another variance pertains to the identification process. Who is part of the dominant group, or rather, who is nonwhite, differs across states. In some of them, mestizos are considered part of the dominant population⁶⁶.

The existence of those consequences does not mean that the discussions lack nuances. For example, research conducted by Telles and Bailey (2013) in eight Latin American countries showed overall high percentages of preference for structural explanations ⁶⁷ concerning minority disadvantage, as well as an equivalence between minorities and dominant group responses on the explanation for socioeconomic discrepancies across races. The data unveiled that in many countries, the recognition of discrimination toward racial minorities is the norm, even across minorities and dominant groups. Paradoxically and very telling, the authors found contradictions to this norm in Brazil, where minorities were more likely to claim structuralist explanations than dominants. Telles and Bailey (2013) argued that targeted policies adopted by the countries for afro descendants heightened racial groups conflicting interests. They also found an anomaly in Mexico, where dominants recognized discrimination more than the minority population.

The research conducted by Telles and Bailey (2013) demonstrated that abrupt variances across countries in racial stratification and understanding of the relation between socioeconomic disadvantage and race mark the region. Therefore, it is virtually impossible to draw only one antiracist guideline applicable to Latin America as a whole. This conclusion is relevant both

-

⁶⁵ Paschel and Sawyer, "Contesting Politics as Usual," 198.

⁶⁶ Telles and Bailey, "Understanding Latin American Beliefs about Racial Inequality," 1569.

⁶⁷ In the research, the authors regarded as 'structural explanations' all the answers that attributed unfair treatment and low education as the reasons for minority poverty. Conversely, individualist attributions deemed insufficient work effort, less intelligence or cultural complacency as the main reason for the socioeconomic gap across races. See: Telles and Bailey, 1571.

for the justification of this research and the conclusion herein. I will develop this relationship in the third chapter. For now, it suffices to say that different countries demand different analyses regarding the strategies and changes necessary to tackle structural racism.

The process of contestation and resistance of social movements in the region: an overview of the main struggles and response of Afro-descendant movement to structural racism

The attempt at subjugating African descendants has always been matched with resistance, even in the context of the colonies⁶⁸. Similarly, as colonialism established the global model of exploitation that created a transregional regime of racial stratification, Afro-Latin American movements have nurtured transnational networks of resistance to counter racism and social exclusion⁶⁹.

The counter-movements had to face many challenges. First, the legacy of the ideology of mestizaje and the praise for race mixture created multiple political categories – way more than black or white. Consequently, the process of identity, or collective identity, was jeopardized and therefore hampered the development of social movements⁷⁰. As Tianna Paschel and Mark Sawyer (2008) worded it, "black activists who choose to emphasize their racial identity above their national identity are often charged with being racists themselves or with having imported ideas from foreign lands"⁷¹.

Second, African-descendant populations faced challenges concerning their status vis-à-vis the states. On the one hand, they were incorporated as second-class citizens, thus naturalized within

⁶⁸ Caribe, Situación de las personas afrodescendientes en América Latina y desafíos de políticas para la garantía de sus derechos, 15.

⁶⁹ Paschel and Sawyer, "Contesting Politics as Usual," 198.

⁷⁰ Paschel and Sawyer, 198.

⁷¹ Paschel and Sawyer, 199.

paths of social and economic exclusion⁷². Without basic services, education, or work, they faced severe limitations in creating or nurturing movements to challenge governments and civil society ⁷³. On the other hand, they did not receive much support from international organizations nor had a transregional declaration recognizing their rights. This lack of support derived from the uncertainty of their juridical status: while indigenous populations in Latin America claimed their rights in terms of cultural distinctiveness and ethnicity, many African movements did not use that discursive tool and therefore faced much more political opposition from the states⁷⁴.

Third, racial struggles and tensions in the region have been undermined for a long time. By drawing conclusions between the context of the United States, social scientists often claimed that racism did not exist in Latin America. Therefore, they did not analyze the impacts of the ideology of mestizaje on the experiences of discrimination of racial hierarchies in the region⁷⁵. This absence was widespread: from the absence of public policies to the lack of an official census measuring the population and state recognition of African Descendants' struggles⁷⁶. A good portrait of the dichotomy between the outside image of racial relations in Latin America and the reality and the impact of this dichotomy on racial struggles was the research conducted by the United Nations for Education, Science, and Culture (UNESCO) in 1951 and 1952 in Brazil. While the research intended to convey a positive remark on the country concerning racial matters, having indeed concluded that Brazil was an example of a country where racial

Paschel and Sawyer, 199.

⁷³ Paschel and Sawyer, 199.

 ⁷⁴ Safa, "Challenging Mestizaje," 311.
 ⁷⁵ PeñA, Sidanius, and Sawyer, "Racial Democracy in the Americas," 750.

⁷⁶ Caribe, Situación de las personas afrodescendientes en América Latina y desafíos de políticas para la garantía de sus derechos, 184.

relations were harmonious, it recognized how racial prejudice was ignored in the country and the complexity of racial relations in Brazil⁷⁷.

Nonetheless, ethno-racial politics in Latin America gained a peculiar prompt in the late nineties. The political opening was directly linked to changes in policy norms at the international level, the human rights revolution, the norms of racial equality in the postwar period, and the preparation for the third United Nations (UN) World Conference Against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia, and Related Intolerance held in Durban, South Africa in September 2001⁷⁸. Those events marked a turning point in Latin America's fight against racism and racial inequality and allowed multicultural policies to emerge in the following 20 years⁷⁹. The black social movement actors took advantage of this political opening to push for inclusion policies in their home countries, albeit the frameworks and tactics used varied drastically⁸⁰. As such, historically, domestic politics concerning racial equality mixed with global and regional anti-racist struggles in what some others call "activism without borders" ⁸¹.

There are several examples of illustrations of these patterns. Perhaps the most emblematic two are the Colombian and the Brazilian cases. Shortly after ratifying the International Labor Organization (ILO) 1989 Convention, Colombia mirrored in its 1991 constitution the legislative protection of ethnic groups guaranteed by the international treaty ⁸². Correspondingly, black social movements in Brazil took advantage of the World Conference Against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia, and Related Intolerance to use the

⁷⁷ Maio, "O Projeto Unesco e a agenda das ciências sociais no Brasil dos anos 40 e 50," 151.

⁷⁸ Paschel, "The Right to Difference," 740.

⁷⁹ Paschel, 740.

⁸⁰ Paschel, 741.

⁸¹ Keck, Keck, and Sikkink, Activists Beyond Borders, 15.

⁸² Paschel and Sawyer, "Contesting Politics as Usual," 745.

provisions therein and push for the implementation of affirmative action in the country; and succeeded⁸³.

It is, therefore, clear that black movements in Latin America relied greatly upon the human rights movements to forward their claims and that states wielded that strategy and language. However, it remains yet to see whether the human rights movement has been structured to accommodate the claims of equality in the form needed to improve the protection initially granted by the States to those populations.

a. Argentina

The manifestation of structural racism in Argentina is two-fold. For one, it denies the existence and contributions of African descendants in the country⁸⁴. And second, it forges a certain identity of the country in which African descendants are excluded⁸⁵.

There are three historical periods in which the presence of Africans and African descendants in Argentina is worth noting. The first one corresponds to the period of the slavery trade. Although hard to pinpoint precisely, it is estimated that between 1534 and 1778, at least 30% of the population in Argentina were Africans that the slave trade had forcefully taken into the country ⁸⁶. Without records of immigration flows or widespread disease among those populations, it is hard to imagine that they abruptly ceased to exist. The second period, which encompasses the 19th and 20th centuries, marked the entrance of African descendants from the Cape Verde Islands⁸⁷. They fled the region to Argentina to pursue a better life. Similarly, the

⁸³ "Full Article: Remaking Racial Inclusion: Combining Race and Class in Brazil's New Affirmative Action," 159.

⁸⁴ Kleidermacher, "Africanos y afrodescendientes en la Argentina: Invisibilización, discriminación y racismo," 2; Frigerio, "Quebrando La Invisibilidad," 140.

⁸⁵ Kleidermacher, "Africanos y afrodescendientes en la Argentina: Invisibilización, discriminación y racismo," 2; Frigerio, "De la 'desaparición' de los negros a la 'reaparición' de los afrodescendientes: comprendiendo las políticas de las identidades negras, las clasificaciones raciales y de su estudio en Argentina," 118.

⁸⁶ Kleidermacher, "Africanos y afrodescendientes en la Argentina: Invisibilización, discriminación y racismo," 3.

⁸⁷ Kleidermacher, 2.

third period reflects the entrance of African Descendants from immigration flows: from 1990 on, immigrants from Senegal, Nigeria, Mali, Sierra Leone, Liberia, Ghana, and Congo, besides African Descendants from Peru, Brazil, Cuba, Colombia, Ecuador, and Honduras entered Argentina⁸⁸.

Nonetheless, it is still strong in Argentina the belief that the country is homogenously white and was built upon European lineages⁸⁹. The idea was state-sponsored. During the eighties, inspired by scientific racism, the state prompted massive European immigration⁹⁰. The project behind it was simple: to modify the country's social structure by changing its ethnic composition. The liberal elite at the time believed that European and white populations had better values and could contribute more to building a new national identity in Argentina⁹¹. Therefore, the project behind immigration wanted to homogenize by promoting the disappearance of African Descendant populations.

The ideology of mestizaje catapulted this process. The latter provided the discursive tool needed to prevent counter-narratives. Thus, while the State attempted to promote the idea of a white nation, the ideology claimed that to counter that narrative meant to counter the idea of the nation. As the African descendants had been born in a State that claimed to have a particular identity (white), all the others became stigmatized⁹². Thus, the official discursive framework focused on national identity over the racial, and to insist on the latter meant to challenge national identity and split the country unnecessarily⁹³. To put it simply: African descendants had two options; to abide by the idea that all Argentines were one and that one was white, or to challenge that and, along with it, challenge the very idea of being Argentinian. This identity

⁸⁸ Kleidermacher, 2.

⁸⁹ Kleidermacher, 3; Monkevicius, "No tenía que haber negros," 89.

⁹⁰ Kleidermacher, "Africanos y afrodescendientes en la Argentina: Invisibilización, discriminación y racismo," 7.

⁹¹ Kleidermacher, 7.

⁹² Kleidermacher, 4.

⁹³ Paschel and Sawyer, "Contesting Politics as Usual," 199.

mutation set the tone for the debates on ethnicity and race in the country and thus became central to the debate on the rights of African and African descendants⁹⁴.

At the same time, the rejection of non-whiteness in the country hindered the self-identification of people as such. They hid their origins to attempt better social inclusion⁹⁵. Moreover, the racial classification system established in the country assigned as black an increasingly reduced number of people, allowing for the preponderance of whiteness⁹⁶. This dynamic belongs to the realm of structural racism insofar as derived from a process of internationalization that started with the dominant narrative constructed by the state but gained a life of its own with the social interactions in daily life⁹⁷. As illustrated by Frigerio (2008):

> Esta "ceguera cromática" de los porteños –argumento en aquel trabajo– no se debe a que ser considerado negro o "no negro" sea irrelevante, sino que, por el contrario, la ubicación dentro de la primera categoría es considerado peyorativo -para el caso argentino, tanto para el individuo como para la sociedad a la que pertenece-. La categorización de una persona como "no negro" se produce a través de un trabajo constante (en el sentido de trabajo de construcción social de la realidad) de invisibilización de los rasgos fenotípicos negros a nivel micro. Esta invisibilización a nivel de las interacciones micro-sociales, se corresponde a nivel macro con la invisibilización -constante también- de la presencia del negro en la historia argentina y de sus influencias en -y aportes a- la cultura Argentina⁹⁸.

The social context that promoted the shame of being black generated another type of appropriation: the attempt at cultural annihilation⁹⁹. The contributions of African descendants to the Argentine culture were denied to the national identity. Some of them were banned, such

94 Monkevicius, "No tenía que haber negros," 91.

⁹⁵ Kleidermacher, "Africanos y afrodescendientes en la Argentina: Invisibilización, discriminación y racismo," 4. 96 Frigerio, "De la 'desaparición' de los negros a la 'reaparición' de los afrodescendientes: comprendiendo las políticas de las identidades negras, las clasificaciones raciales y de su estudio en Argentina," 120.

⁹⁷ Frigerio, 121.

⁹⁸ Unofficial translation: "This "chromatic blindness" of the porteños -argument in that work- is not due to the fact that being considered black or "not black" is irrelevant, but, on the contrary, the location within the first category is considered pejorative -for the Argentine case, both for the individual and for the society to which he/she belongs-. The categorization of a person as "non-black" is produced through a constant work (in the sense of work of social construction of reality) of invisibilization of black phenotypical features at the micro level. This invisibilization at the level of micro-social interactions, corresponds at the macro level with the invisibilization also constant- of the presence of blacks in Argentine history and of their influences in -and contributions to-Argentine culture." Frigerio, 120.

⁹⁹ Kleidermacher, "Africanos y afrodescendientes en la Argentina: Invisibilización, discriminación y racismo," 5.

as the traditional "cadombes" to there were diluted, as they were marginalized and blatantly ignored 101.

Given this context, the greatest challenge of the black social movements in Argentina has been to counteract the historical position of "forgetting" they were assigned to, as it is from the state discourse of concealment and denial that the current vulnerabilities of African and African descendants arose¹⁰². The construction of this old-new identity is both inward and outwardly: it demands what Monkevicius (2012) calls a process of "communalization" of the "Afro" aimed at promoting a shared sense of belonging between the African and African Descendant populations in Argentina¹⁰³; and a reaffirmation of existence and belonging vis-à-vis the state and the social relations that undisputedly put this group in a place that assures them the right to access social goods and full citizenship¹⁰⁴. This challenge is heightened because, historically, the state of Argentina has been indifferent to those struggles – or any that pertains to African descendants or racism – and resistant (at best) to include racial equality demands in the public agenda¹⁰⁵.

b. Brazil

The most prominent feature of structural racism in Brazil is the false conception of racial harmony and the never-ending influence of the mestizaje ideology¹⁰⁶.

Unlike Argentina, racial structures in Brazil failed to deny the existence of African and African descendants. For one, four million Africans were forcefully transported to Brazil into

¹⁰⁰ Kleidermacher, 5; Frigerio, "Quebrando La Invisibilidad," 142.

¹⁰¹ Kleidermacher, "Africanos y afrodescendientes en la Argentina: Invisibilización, discriminación y racismo,"

¹⁰² Monkevicius, "No tenía que haber negros," 92.

¹⁰³ Monkevicius, 93.

¹⁰⁴ Monkevicius, 102.

¹⁰⁵ Frigerio, "Quebrando La Invisibilidad," 141.

¹⁰⁶ Bailey, "The Race Construct and Public Opinion," 407.

slavery, which is more than a third of the global slave trade¹⁰⁷. As a result, Brazil is thought to be the country with the greatest concentration of individuals of African heritage outside of Nigeria¹⁰⁸. Moreover, the dominant discursive in the aftermath of independence praised – at least officially- mixing over whitening¹⁰⁹. In this sense, the nation's future was directed at the "mixed" Brazilians (African, European, and indigenous)¹¹⁰.

From this process, they attempted to create a new category of race and therefore diminish over time the visible number of persons of African descent, their demands, and the possibility of demanding targeted policy actions¹¹¹. As described by Hernandez (2004), "the social recognition of the racially mixed racial identity of "mulato/pardo" was a mechanism for buffering the numerical minority of White-identified elite Brazilians from the discontent of the persons of African descent's vast majority"¹¹². At the same time, individuals were pushed to disassociate from their African origin, as social status, prestige, and economic privileged were accorded based on the approximation of a European phenotype¹¹³. In any case, the ideology of mestizaje is considered the decisive mechanism in the ethno-racial organization in Brazil, especially after the biopolitical strategies adopted by the country from the 1930s on¹¹⁴.

At the same time, in Brazil, the procedure of identifying a person's race also developed an unintended degree of flexibility. Race in the nation is determined by phenotype rather than genetic, ancestry, or ethnic factors¹¹⁵. Simply expressed, the most crucial component of racial identification has to do with visual evaluations, which explains why prejudice is attached by

^{107 &}quot;Slavery in Brazil | Wilson Center."

¹⁰⁸ Hernandez, "To Be Brown in Brazil," 684.

¹⁰⁹ Bailey, "The Race Construct and Public Opinion," 409.

¹¹⁰ Bailey, 409.

¹¹¹ Telles, Racismo à brasileira, 120.

¹¹² Hernandez, "To Be Brown in Brazil," 685.

¹¹³ Hernandez, 686.

¹¹⁴ Weschenfelder and Da Silva, "A Cor Da Mestiçagem," 314.

¹¹⁵ Hernandez, "To Be Brown in Brazil," 686.

one's phenotype (prejudice of mark) and why people of the same racial origin are frequently socially defined by different racial designations 116.

Indeed, all of that combined facilitated the popularization of several national myths. The main ones were that racism did not exist as a social phenomenon and that racial mixture created a racially harmonious society¹¹⁷. The strength of those beliefs has historically operated as a vehicle for perpetuating white supremacy and racial segregation ¹¹⁸. However, this specific framework also exposed the binary feature of racial relations in Brazil. This third category ("mulatto/pardo") was not white or black and therefore was not white. As in Brazil, non-whites always endured social, economic, and political disadvantages in relation to whites. The racial cleavages were identifiable even without the identification of blacks per se¹¹⁹. Consequently, the utter denial of racism became more difficult, albeit still widely accepted.

Black movements in Brazil took advantage of this rhetorical opening to both expose the existing racial disparities in the country and push for the implementation of targeted public policies. Following the historical racial mobilization from the 1930s, with "Frente Negra Brasileira/FNB" was formed, and the lead of Afro-Brazilian intellectuals and artists in the 1940s and 1950s to assert the relations between social inequality and racial relations, Afro-Brazilian youth groups in the 1970s formed the "Movimento Negro Unificado/MNU" (Unified Black Movement) 120. Having understood the socio-economic similarities between people classified as black and pardo (brown), they pushed for the agglutination of black and pardos in statistical analyses and description of data while still promoting consciousness toward the definition of black, that included dark or light-skinned Afro-Brazilians 121. This move

¹¹⁶ Hernandez, 686.

¹¹⁷ Bailey, "The Race Construct and Public Opinion," 407; Hernandez, "To Be Brown in Brazil," 685; Weschenfelder and Da Silva, "A Cor Da Mestiçagem," 319.

¹¹⁸ Hernandez, "To Be Brown in Brazil," 684. ¹¹⁹ Schwartzman, "Seeing Like Citizens," 226.

¹²⁰ Hernandez, "To Be Brown in Brazil," 687.

¹²¹ Schwartzman, "Seeing Like Citizens," 226.

influenced social policy, especially in light of the 2001 World Conference Against Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia, and Related Intolerance in Durban¹²². The strategies combined and the constant pressure from the Black Movement were somewhat fruitful. After the conference, race-based affirmative actions were implemented, race-target policies were created, and Congress approved a Statute of Racial Equality¹²³.

Many other policies followed, and the Black Movement has been relentless over the years in pushing for improvements¹²⁴. It is reasonable to say that Brazil is one of the countries that implemented more targeted policies pertaining to African-descendant populations in Latin America. However, those policies lack transversal coordination, properly planned funding, and training¹²⁵. Simply said, in some instances, public policies need to be implemented, and in many others, they need to be reformed¹²⁶.

Regardless of whether to implement or restructure public policies, when it comes to targeted policies focused on African-descendant populations¹²⁷, Brazil faces a great deal of backlash. Historically, all legal frameworks or public policies aimed at promoting racial equality had a strong opposition in academia, media coverage, and society in general, including with the disqualification and criminalization of social movements ¹²⁸. In the country, the clashing interests of racial groupings were heightened by the governments' targeted programs for people of African descent¹²⁹.

¹²² Schwartzman, 227.

¹²³ Schwartzman, 228.

¹²⁴ Hasenbalg et al., *Lugar de negro*, 29.

¹²⁵ Carneiro, Racismo, sexismo e desigualdade no Brasil, 18.

¹²⁶ Carneiro, 22.

¹²⁷ Some of the main public policies are: Law 10.639/03, that included the theme "Afro-Brazilian History and Culture" in the official curriculum of the Education Network; the implementation of the National Policy on the integral health of the black community by the National Council of Health; the implementation of the adoption by the Executive of the Project to Combat Institutional Racism, among other. For a detailed account of those actions, see: Carneiro, 18–25.

¹²⁸ Carneiro, 33.

¹²⁹ Telles and Bailey, "Understanding Latin American Beliefs about Racial Inequality," 1582.

c. Colombia

In Colombia, one of the main features of structural racism is the difficulties in effectively implementing targeted public policies for African-descendant populations based on the intersections between race and ethnicity and the struggles those populations face concerning armed conflict and dispossession.

The mestizaje ideology in the country promoted a process in which the black population was discursively made invisible¹³⁰. Although mixing in the country indeed carried a whitening tone (the notion that black and natives were inferiors and the mixing would prompt the country forward through their elimination), the mixedness happened alongside the exclusion and silencing of blacks¹³¹. Moreover, in Colombia, race, class, and region are closely connected¹³². As pointed out by Paschel (2010): "In the end, black Colombians were, and continue to be, disproportionately impoverished, with a high concentration of the population residing in certain regions, resulting in a de facto regional segregation"¹³³.

This entangled relation explains the framework in which racial equality is handled in Colombia. Instead of claims of integration and sameness based on a perception of race based on racial discrimination and equality, in Colombia, black movements used ethnic difference as a frame and therefore relied on notions of cultural distinctiveness, cultural identity, autonomy, and the right to land¹³⁴. For some authors, this specific framing is the reason that African descendants have been granted rights. For example, Bailey and Peria (2014) claim that in the fight for

¹³⁰ Paschel, "The Right to Difference," 736; Wade, "The Cultural Politics of Blackness in Colombia," 341.

¹³¹ Paschel, "The Right to Difference," 736.

¹³² Paschel, 736.

¹³³ Paschel, 737.

¹³⁴ Paschel, 741.

collective rights and social inclusion in Latin America, there may be a dynamic where success is correlated with emphasizing ethnicity and downplaying race¹³⁵.

Nonetheless, the relation between framing racial equality based on cultural distinctiveness stemmed from the relation between race, class, and region. By the time that global policy norms and internal relations provided the opening that civil society actors needed to demand racial equality 136, two social movements were prominent: the rural movements that emerged in majority black regions; and the urban-based organization named Cimarrón¹³⁷. While the former articulated racial equality within the framing of racial equality and integration, the latter used the language of integration and equality¹³⁸. This divisiveness, together with the scarcity of resources, regional fragmentation, and a pervasiveness discourse that specific legislation for Afro-Colombians had the potential to racially split the country weakened the stance of black organizations in the National Constitutional Assembly (ANC) of 1990¹³⁹. Consequently, they did not get a candidate elected to the ANC¹⁴⁰. To fill this gap and guarantee the inclusion of new rights for Afro-Colombians in the incoming constitution, they partnered with Francisco Rojas Birry, an indigenous leader from the Pacific Coast of Colombia¹⁴¹. The consequence of this alliance was an argumentative battle in which the issues of indigenous populations were regarded in conjunction with the ones of the black people¹⁴².

The result of all of that was the 1991 Constitution of Colombia, which recognized as black communities those "which have come to occupy uncultivated lands in the rural zones adjoining the rivers of the Pacific Basin, in accordance with their traditional cultivation practices and

¹³⁵ Peria and Bailey, "Remaking Racial Inclusion," 157.

¹³⁶ Paschel, "The Right to Difference," 746; Wade, "The Cultural Politics of Blackness in Colombia," 343.
137 Paschel, "The Right to Difference," 748.

¹³⁸ Paschel, 750.

¹³⁹ Wade, "The Cultural Politics of Blackness in Colombia," 347.

¹⁴⁰ Paschel, "The Right to Difference," 751.

¹⁴¹ Paschel, 751.

¹⁴² Paschel, 752.

the right to collective property over the areas which the same law shall demarcate". The discussions following the provision's enactment were held in the making process of the legislation mentioned by the Constitution. Ultimately, they represented the struggle the black communities faced to advance their stance as an ethnic group, especially because the majority of the anthropologists in the Commission responsible for the draft argued that Afro-Colombians did not have a collective identity and distinctiveness¹⁴³. To counter that, Afro-Colombia presented proofs and documents of their particular dynamic with nature, land, and culture ¹⁴⁴. In Paschel (2010)'s words: "since the inclusion of Afro-Colombians in the Constitution had already been established in cultural and ethnic terms with a specific focus on the Pacific Coast, between 1991 and 1993 Afro-Colombian representatives mainly worked within this framework, though simultaneously appropriating these new discourses of a multicultural nation" ¹⁴⁵.

The result of this debate was Law 70, which adopted a narrow interpretation of the black community by focusing on rural black populations of the Pacific Coast¹⁴⁶. Moreover, the law only once addresses racism and discrimination, besides lacking clear policies and proposals concerning this issue¹⁴⁷. In this sense, on the one hand, the adopted approach was a stepping stone in rural black community claims territory and official recognition¹⁴⁸. On the other, it led to the perpetuation of a regionally specific notion of black people as being from the pacific coast and living in rural areas that effectively excluded the accommodation of the urban blacks, that is, a majority in Colombia¹⁴⁹. As Wade (1995) pointed out: "for blacks, therefore, specific institutions with the state open a concessionary space that these institutions also try to control,

¹⁴³ Paschel, 756.

¹⁴⁴ Paschel, 759.

¹⁴⁵ Paschel, 760.

¹⁴⁶ Paschel, 762.

¹⁴⁷ Paschel, 762.

¹⁴⁸ Delgado, "El territorio," 60.

¹⁴⁹ Paschel, "The Right to Difference," 759.

using a preexisting indígena model, limiting the issue to regional land rights, and restricting the definition of 'ethnic group' to a specific type of black community" ¹⁵⁰.

In addition, after 1994, the increasing guerrilla activity in Colombia forced Afro-Colombian populations to leave their lands and prevent others from obtaining collective land grants¹⁵¹.

Wade, "The Cultural Politics of Blackness in Colombia," 350.Arocha, "Inclusion of Afro-Colombians," 84.

JURISPRUDENCE OF THE INTER-AMERICAN COURT OF HUMAN RIGHTS RELATED TO AFRO-DESCENDANT POPULATIONS AND STRUCTURAL RACISM

A brief introduction to the Inter-American System of protection

The basic document of the system is the American Convention on Human Rights. The treaty establishes two organs: the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights and the Inter-American Court of Human Rights, both of which have the competence to oversee the correct application of the Convention¹⁵². While the Court only hears cases referred to them by the Commission or the States¹⁵³, the former is not bound by the conclusions reached by the latter.

The Inter-American Court of Human Rights' role in Latin America

The Inter-American Court of Human Rights was envisioned as a beacon of cultural transformation and institutional shift within the heterogenous region of America. The historical and socio-economic background of the American context has been constructed, in this sense, as both a result of and a guide to the structures of the Court. Ramírez (2015) describes this process as the "American Voyage": from a departure of democratic building, systematic mass crimes sponsored by states, and development of a doctrine on forced disappearance, right to the truth, and amnesties, to the definitive reign of human rights¹⁵⁴.

In this sense, scholarship has reported the Court's understanding of its role within the region as an agency for the development of human rights law, acting through the analysis of transcendent cases to guide the national jurisdictions in a broad consolidation process of the most effective protection of human rights¹⁵⁵.

¹⁵² Faúndez Ledesma, *The Inter-American System for the Protection of Human Rights*, 133.

¹⁵³ Faúndez Ledesma, 562.

¹⁵⁴ García Ramírez, "The Relationship between Inter-American Jurisdiction and States (National Systems)," 119.

¹⁵⁵ García Ramírez, 124.

The scholarship does not entirely accept this guidance. Malarino (2012), for example, perceived the Court's case law through three tendencies: a) modifying laws (even when the goal is to update them in alignment with current social needs); b) creating new rights that are not provided in the American Convention; c) interfering with the functions of national structures¹⁵⁶. Consequently, he considered the Court's case law antidemocratic and illiberal¹⁵⁷, which in turn undermines legality, legal certainty, democracy (self-government), and the principle of self-determination of peoples¹⁵⁸. By the same token, Contesse (2017) warned that some of the Court's behavior and the level of intrusiveness thereof end up delegitimizing the court in the face of its constituents—governments, domestic courts, and the general public¹⁵⁹. He claims that when the Court expands its powers or roles, it may lose legitimacy and international authority¹⁶⁰.

Nevertheless, be it beneficial or not for the region and the Tribunal, the case law has shown at least three patterns in terms of the Inter-American Court's aims: i) set standards for the formation and consolidation of international jurisprudence; ii) promote an *ius commune* in the region; iii) develop public policies that incorporate human rights and their various implications in fields such as political, economic, social, and cultural life¹⁶¹.

The enumerated objectives are derived from different scholars' understanding of the Inter-American Court's ordeal. Some of them view it as an intent to demand national systems to halt violations and encourage the culture of rights¹⁶². Others reflect on the use of "non-repetition measures" to read the Court's endeavor as a tool to push for structural changes in the region,

¹⁵⁶ Malarino, "Judicial Activism, Punitivism and Supranationalisation," 668.

¹⁵⁷ Malarino, 668.

¹⁵⁸ Malarino, 695.

¹⁵⁹ Contesse, "The International Authority of the Inter-American Court of Human Rights," 1169.

¹⁶⁰ Contesse, 1177.

¹⁶¹ Abramovich, "From Massive Violations to Structural Patterns," 10.

¹⁶² García Ramírez, "The Relationship between Inter-American Jurisdiction and States (National Systems)," 131.

especially related to a rule-of-law practice and culture¹⁶³, or point to the Court's tendency to promote unified standards of human rights and reinforce the obligations of domestic judges to consult and protect international judgments¹⁶⁴. While the authors used different focuses to rely on their claims, they all seem to converge into an understanding of the Court's demands related to reparation that aligns with implications of regional unification, human rights policy-making, and standardized jurisprudence in relation to the protection of individuals. Another relevant function of the Court highlighted by the scholarship is the one related to transnational activism: The Court is understood as a boomerang strategy that civil society can use to denounce violations and allow dialogue with governments using the international repercussion¹⁶⁵.

Aligned with the last objective, Abramovich (2009) noted an increasingly confronted agenda in the Inter-American human rights system: the combat of inequality and social exclusion, particularly when related to the historical institutional deficit¹⁶⁶. In this realm, the topic of structural discrimination and structural racism arises. Over the years, the jurisprudence of the Court has evolved to accommodate the challenges in recognizing structural discrimination and thus has expanded the notion of equality to include not only non-discrimination (elimination of arbitrary differences) but also substantive equality, which requires an active role from the State to diagnose its social reality, identify vulnerable populations, and provide them with urgent and special measures of protection¹⁶⁷.

To do so, the Court explored two aspects: the concept of vulnerability and the content of equality. For the concept of vulnerability, the Court attributed a specific meaning: an exclusion dynamic that limits the access to rights of an individual 168. From this understanding, the Court

¹⁶³ Huneeus, "Courts Resisting Courts," 506.

¹⁶⁴ Kosař and Lixinski, "Domestic Judicial Design by International Human Rights Courts," 733.

¹⁶⁵ Abramovich, "From Massive Violations to Structural Patterns," 14.

¹⁶⁶ Abramovich, 16.

¹⁶⁷ Abramovich, 18.

¹⁶⁸ Estupiñan Silva, "La Vulnerabilidad En La Jurisprudencia de La Corte Interamericana de Derechos Humanos: Esbozo de Una Tipología," 202.

has built the connection between vulnerability and structural inequality and discrimination¹⁶⁹. The established relationship between them was one of causation in the sense that cultural prejudice facilitates the reproduction of vulnerability¹⁷⁰. This conceptualization allowed the Court to explore vulnerability stemming from groups: not only the case-law recognized that vulnerability could be derived from social, cultural, and historical contexts that undermine the access to rights of certain groups¹⁷¹, but it also ascertained the vulnerability of specific groups, such as migrants, woman, and minority sexual identities¹⁷². Finally, the Court declared that a context of vulnerability closely relates to the right of nondiscrimination¹⁷³ and determines the extent of the obligations of the States¹⁷⁴.

This new realm – one that addresses vulnerabilities of groups derived from cultural, historical, and social conditions – prompted the Court to advance the traditional formula of nondiscrimination based on formal equality. The case-law required – and the Court responded – a step forward into substantive equality and the recognition of the detrimental influence of economic and cultural dominant patterns on the enjoyment of rights ¹⁷⁵. However, the content of the principle of equality is still an unfinished business in the Court's jurisprudence, at least where studies on structural inequalities are concerned: the scholarship signalized, for example, the need to better develop notions of redistribution and recognition ¹⁷⁶, and the implications of intersectionality ¹⁷⁷.

16

¹⁶⁹ Estupiñan Silva, 204.

¹⁷⁰ Estupiñan Silva, 204.

¹⁷¹ Caicedo Camacho, "El alcance de la vulnerabilidad en la jurisprudencia de la Corte Interamericana de Derechos Humanos," 85.

¹⁷² Estupiñan Silva, "La Vulnerabilidad En La Jurisprudencia de La Corte Interamericana de Derechos Humanos: Esbozo de Una Tipología," 204.

¹⁷³ Caicedo Camacho, "El alcance de la vulnerabilidad en la jurisprudencia de la Corte Interamericana de Derechos Humanos," 86.

¹⁷⁴ Caicedo Camacho, 79.

¹⁷⁵ Clérico and Aldao, "Nuevas Miradas de La Igualdad En La Jurisprudencia de La Corte Interamericana de Derechos Humanos," 177.

¹⁷⁶ Clérico and Aldao, 178.

¹⁷⁷ Pou Giménez, "La Igualdad Sustantiva Interamericana," 1247.

Argentinian Case (Case "Acosta Martínez and others v. Argentina, Judgment of August 31, 2020)

Summary of the case

The case was presented to the Inter-American System by "Comisión de familiars de víctimas indefensas de la violencia social" – COFA, "Centro de Investigaciones Sociales y asesorías Legales Populares" – CISALP, and Paola Gabriela Canova¹⁷⁸, all of which will be from now on referred to as "the petitioners".

It pertains to the illegal detention following the death of José Delfín Acosta Martínez (hereinafter "José Delfín" or "the victim"), which took place on April the 5th of 1996.

The petitioners alleged that José Delfin Acosta's arrest was arbitrary, based on his race and nationality. They indicated that José Delfin was an Uruguayan African descendant, which was the sole motive for his arrest ¹⁷⁹. Moreover, they argued that the case investigation was hampered by generalized corruption in the judiciary ¹⁸⁰. Therefore, their claims were dismissed without regard for the proof offered by the parts. Similarly, the brother of the victim, Ángel Costa, solicited political asylum following telephonic interventions and attempts on his life ¹⁸¹. Based on the above, the petitioners alleged that the State of Argentina violated: i) the right to personal integrity and the right to life of José Delfín Acosta for a violent attack perpetrated by the police under state custody and that caused the death of the victim; ii) right to personal liberty, for the arbitrary arrest; iii) right to judicial guarantees and protection, for the lack of

¹⁷⁸ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, "Informe de Fondo (No. 146/18, Caso 12.906)," 1.

¹⁷⁹ Martinez and Centro de Investigaciones Sociales y asesorías Legales Populares, "Escrito de Solicitudes, Argumentos y Pruebas Presentado Por Los Representantes de Las Presuntas Víctimas," 3.

¹⁸⁰ Martinez and Centro de Investigaciones Sociales y asesorías Legales Populares, 28.

¹⁸¹ Martinez and Centro de Investigaciones Sociales y asesorías Legales Populares, 8.

proper investigation following the arbitrary arrest and death of the victim; iv) the right to equality before the law, as the arrest of the victim had a racial motive¹⁸².

The Commission followed along the same lines of argumentation as the petitioners. It concluded that the State violated the right to life, personal integrity, personal liberty, equality before the law, and non-discrimination (articles 4.1, 5.1, 5.2, 7.2, 7.3, 7.4 and 24 of the American Convention on Human Rights, in conjunction with articles 1.1 and 2 of the same instrument) of José Delfín, as well as judicial guarantees and judicial protection (articles 8.1 and 25.1 of the Convention) of the family of the victim ¹⁸³. In sum, the Commission understood ¹⁸⁴ that: i) the detention of José Delfín was illegal, arbitrary, and discriminatory, as it was based on an unlawful police enactment and conducted without reasonable justification; ii) the State did not act with the sufficient assistance as to safeguard the victim's physical integrity and life, despite the state's special position as guarantors of detained persons; iii) Argentina did not provide the family of the victim with a fair trial or criminal proceeding, having disregarded practices of proof gathering or diligences that were asked and failed to assess criminal or administrative responsibility to police agents that had the custody of José Delfín at the time.

While the State initially argued against the victims and the Commission's standing, the position taken to the Court was one of agreement. Following a change of administration, Argentina recognized its international responsibility concerning the violations appointed by the Commission¹⁸⁵. More than that, the State claimed that the case of José Delfín was paradigmatic in relation to the persecution and stigmatization of the Afro-descendant community in

_

¹⁸² Martinez and Centro de Investigaciones Sociales y asesorías Legales Populares, 43.

¹⁸³ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, "Informe de Fondo (No. 146/18, Caso 12.906)," 1.

¹⁸⁴ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, "Observaciones Finales Escritas (José Delfín Acosta Martinez y Familiares Vs. Argentina)," 5.

¹⁸⁵ Ministério de Relaciones Exteriores, Comercio, Internacional y Culto, "Alegatos Finales Escritos Presentados Por El Estado," 1.

Argentina and police brutality¹⁸⁶. Even more, and taking a stand that it was arguably more farreaching than the petitioners and the Commission, the State constantly referred to institutional racism in a broader sense than the specific circumstances of the case (the State mentioned other cases of police brutality, discriminatory behaviors, judicial bias, etc.¹⁸⁷) and asked for the formulation of institutional measures aimed at addressing discrimination and tackling impunity concerning cases related to racial discrimination¹⁸⁸.

The Commission's claims

In the background report, the Commission brought out the issue of racial discrimination more as a leap of interpretation than a tool of analysis of Argentina's broader historical and political context. In assessing the context underlying the alleged violations, the Commission pointed out that, at the time of the violation, there were police enactments under which it was possible to detain people without judicial order or flagrancy ¹⁸⁹. According to the commission, those enactments did not meet the requirements of lawful detention, namely the objectivity, typicality, and obligations related to the procedural safeguards ¹⁹⁰. All those missing safeguards – especially the ones designed to ensure the objectivity of the application of the law – provided a fertile context for arbitrary detention and, in tandem with prejudices and stereotypes affecting groups that have been historically discriminated against ¹⁹¹, for the violation of the right to personal liberty and equal protection before the law.

¹⁸⁶ Ministério de Relaciones Exteriores, Comercio, Internacional y Culto, 2.

¹⁸⁷ Ministério de Relaciones Exteriores, Comercio, Internacional y Culto, 10.

¹⁸⁸ Ministério de Relaciones Exteriores, Comercio, Internacional y Culto, 11.

¹⁸⁹ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, "Informe de Fondo (No. 146/18, Caso 12.906)," 3.

¹⁹⁰ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 17.

¹⁹¹ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 17.

In that way, the enactments themselves, along with the lack of concrete and objective justification for the detention of José Delfín, conjured the arrest's arbitrariness and its discriminatory feature ¹⁹².

On the other hand, in the closing arguments, the Commission expressly referred to structural racism faced by African descendant populations in the Americas¹⁹³. The Commission acknowledged that this type of discrimination is not linked to individual and isolated acts. Rather, it stems from historical, socioeconomic, and cultural contexts and influences a society's decisions, practices, politics, and culture¹⁹⁴.

The more comprehensive approach was not necessarily translated into assessing the facts of the cases or analyzing the State's responsibility. Instead, the Commission focused on drawing the connection between the existing legal framework when the facts occurred (and, more specifically, the police enactment) and the subsequent persecution of certain groups that followed¹⁹⁵. Simply put, according to the Commission, the police enactment lacked objectivity, did not set up the unlawful conduct precisely, and left too much discretion to the police in the assessment and imposition of sanctions. Consequently, certain groups were more easily tagged as dangerous or suspicious, leading to the arbitrary and discriminatory arrest of José Delfín¹⁹⁶.

From this point of view, the legal framework was the creator, and not the manifestation, of racism (and therefore the unlawful profiling). This might explain why the Commission did not use the discriminatory argument in any further analysis. If the enactment was the source of discrimination, only the police actions could be regarded as tainted, as they were the only ones

¹⁹² Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 18.

¹⁹³ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, "Observaciones Finales Escritas (José Delfín Acosta Martinez y Familiares Vs. Argentina)," 4.

¹⁹⁴ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 4.

 $^{^{\}rm 195}$ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 5.

¹⁹⁶ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 5.

directly linked with the enactment. This left unscathed, for example, the following omission of the State within the investigation of the facts, support for the family, and criminal proceedings. It did not touch upon why such legislation remained unchallenged in Argentina for over ten years or what other procedural structures were in place to support the enactment. Ultimately, the Commission used the term structural racism but reviewed the case under the lens of individual discrimination.

The petitioners' claims

The petitioners stepped beyond the individual aspects of the case. They highlighted that African-descendants and African Communities in Argentina in general (not only the victim) face structural discrimination and social exclusion, which legitimized over the years the practice of illegal racial profiling in police interventions and persecution of activists of the black movement.

In the briefs, the individual aspect was more developed than the structural. This means that the particular situation of José Delfín and his relatives was more at the center of the narrative than the general situation of African descendants in Argentina. For example, while the petitioners pointed out that both José Delfín and his brother "sabían muy bien antes de llegar a Argentina, de la negación y ocultamiento sistemático del Estado argentino y la sociedad de la existencia de los/as afro argentinos/as" ¹⁹⁷ therefore signaling toward the existence of structural discrimination, the document focused in connecting this background situation (structural racism), the history of activism for the afro-descendant populations of José Delfín Acosta and the human rights abuse. In that way, they argued that the victims' racial awareness and activism

_

¹⁹⁷ Martinez and Centro de Investigaciones Sociales y asesorías Legales Populares, "Escrito de Solicitudes, Argumentos y Pruebas Presentado Por Los Representantes de Las Presuntas Víctimas," 4.

was the reason for his arrest¹⁹⁸. Simply put, they delineated more the fact that the arrest had racial motives than the structure behind the arrest that allows for the continuation of arbitrary detention based on race.

Ultimately, the representatives argued that the arrest was not only arbitrary on procedural grounds but also because it had discriminatory motives (based solely on the fact that the detainees were of African descent and foreigners). The racial element was present in the analysis of articles 7 and 24 of the American Convention, in conjunction with articles 1.1 and 2 of the same instrument (which accounts for the rights of personal liberty, equality before the law, and non-discrimination). The other articles were not described along racial lines.

On the other hand, the closing arguments expanded the scope of the protection to include more of a structural understanding. The document was presented after the State recognized its international responsibility for the violation of the human rights of José Delfín. Despite the State's recognition, the petitioners claimed that, beyond recognizing the human rights abuse, it was important to outline the growth of racial profiling in the country and to settle the Inter-American Court jurisprudence concerning persecution with racial motives, arbitrary detention, and judicial guarantees¹⁹⁹. In this sense, they went beyond the case's specific circumstances (that was, at that point, already settled) to reaffirm the necessity of addressing not only the individual case but also the patterns and structures/systems behind it. The following excerpt was very clear in that regard:

(...) desde el momento de los hechos hasta el presente, la discriminación racial, las detenciones arbitrarias y la marginación social de los afrodescendientes no sólo ha continuado, sino que en la República Argentina se ha agravado²⁰⁰.

45

¹⁹⁸ Martinez and Centro de Investigaciones Sociales y asesorías Legales Populares, 17.

¹⁹⁹ Martinez, "Alegatos Finales Escritos Presentados Por Los Representantes," 2.

²⁰⁰ Martinez. 56.

However, even this attempt at a systematic approach developed in the document was two-fold. On the one hand, the petitioners undoubtedly emphasized that the situation of invisibility, deprivation, and marginalization faced by African-descendant and African communities in Argentina leads to a context of racial profiling and persecution²⁰¹. This broader outline was a clear attempt to delineate how the violations pointed out in the cases went beyond the individual and stretched out to the institutions of the state. On the other, the emphasis was carefully linked to the facts of the case to frame that the arrest of José Delfín was motivated by persecution of his activism²⁰². This contrast is evident in two consecutive paragraphs of the closing argument:

Es en ese contexto de persecución racial al que se hace referencia, que el 5 de abril de 1996 en la intersección de las calles Sarmiento y Rodríguez Peña la policía (...)²⁰³

(...) Fue por ese motivo que la víctima intervino, él sabía de detenciones arbitrarias y de las torturas a las que podían ser sometidos únicamente por "ser negros", las había sufrido en carne propia (ver declaraciones de Acosta Martínez, Blanca Martínez Gutiérrez y Chagas Techera, ya citadas), por eso es que cuestiona la detención, de acuerdo con los testimonios recogidos de las personas que presenciaron los hechos²⁰⁴.

Moreover, yet again, in the closing arguments, the racial factor was only developed in the analysis of the arrest (and therefore, articles 1.1, 2, 7, and 24 of the American Convention). It was not mentioned in the analysis of the treatment and custody while in prison, the death itself, and the aftermath (investigation, judicial procedures).

The Court's standing

Following the State's recognition of its international responsibility, the Court found that there was no controversy concerning the detention and death of José Delfín, as well as the actions of the family to uncover the truth of the facts²⁰⁵. However, one thing was very interesting. The

²⁰¹ Martinez, 6.

²⁰² Martinez, 13.

²⁰³ Martinez, 12.

²⁰⁴ Martinez, 13.

²⁰⁵ Caso Acosta Martínez y Otros Vs. Argentina (Fondo, Reparaciones y Costas) at 9, §20.

Court ruled that the illegality and arbitrariness of the detention (benchmarks of articles 7.2 and 7.3 of the Convention) was placed within a context of racial discrimination (benchmarks of articles 1.1 and 24 of the Convention)²⁰⁶. The wording of the Court seemed to lean on the ideals of structural racism way closer than the ones adopted by the petitioners or the Commission. The way the Court used it, "the context of racial discrimination" appears as an underlying factor accompanying the violation instead of a consequence of the latter. In this sense, they are both independent and correlated.

Other aspects of the decision reinforced this isolated interpretation. For example, the Court ruled that the decision would be issued regardless of the State's recognition and the apparent lack of controversy thereof, as the death of José Delfín was not accidental or random²⁰⁷. Moreover, the Court highlighted the need to set jurisprudential criteria on the circumstances of the case to improve the protection of victims²⁰⁸. The Court also extensively acknowledged the complex context of structural racism in Argentina, in particular, the pattern of denial of the existence of Afro-descendant populations²⁰⁹ and racial profiling in police activities²¹⁰. Up until then, it can be argued that the context of structural racism was regarded not only as the background of the violation but as a violation in itself. That would explain satisfactorily why the Court ruled even amongst that recognition from the State: the case was a paradigm, not an individual assessment.

As the State recognized the violations, the Court delved into the scope of the international responsibility of Argentina in relation to the obligation to adopt internal measures concerning both the detention procedures and analysis of the arbitrariness of the detention in connection

²⁰⁶ Caso Acosta Martínez y Otros Vs. Argentina (Fondo, Reparaciones y Costas) at 9, §21 (b).

²⁰⁷ Caso Acosta Martínez y Otros Vs. Argentina (Fondo, Reparaciones y Costas) at 10, §24.

²⁰⁸ Caso Acosta Martínez y Otros Vs. Argentina (Fondo, Reparaciones y Costas) at 10, §25.

²⁰⁹ Caso Acosta Martínez y Otros Vs. Argentina (Fondo, Reparaciones y Costas) at 12, §35.

²¹⁰ Caso Acosta Martínez y Otros Vs. Argentina (Fondo, Reparaciones y Costas) at 14, §40.

with the principle of equality and nondiscrimination²¹¹. While doing so, the Court refrained from developing a more far-reaching understanding regarding structural racism. Despite the State's willingness to accommodate rulings beyond the legal framework highlighted in the case (police enactment)²¹², the Court only ruled in relation to the enactment²¹³. Accordingly, the Court connected the analysis of racial profiling to the enactment, ruling that the former hindered the discriminatory motives behind the detention.

The two-fold approach of the Court is noticeable in the decision. On the one hand, the Court placed the arrest of the victim within the broader context of racial discrimination and police prosecution faced by Afro-descendant populations in Argentina²¹⁴. It recognized that racial profiling and other acts of racial discrimination were often dissolved in various state agent acts²¹⁵. On the other, it closed off the discussion by subsuming the act of racial profiling to the imperfections of the enactment²¹⁶ and therefore attaching the discrimination to one piece of legislation. In this sense, according to the Court, the violation was embodied only in the law.

Conclusion

"Acosta Martínez and other V. Argentina" showcased three framings concerning structural racism against African-descendant populations. All three have shortcomings compared to the struggles faced by the group in Argentina concerning racial equality.

The first one, constructed by the petitioners, while recognizing the situation of invisibility, deprivation, and marginalization faced by the group in Argentina, ended up chaining that

²¹¹ Caso Acosta Martínez y Otros Vs. Argentina (Fondo, Reparaciones y Costas) at 27, §77.

²¹² Ministério de Relaciones Exteriores, Comercio, Internacional y Culto, "Alegatos Finales Escritos Presentados Por El Estado," 10.

²¹³ Caso Acosta Martínez y Otros Vs. Argentina (Fondo, Reparaciones y Costas) at 31, §90.

²¹⁴ Caso Acosta Martínez y Otros Vs. Argentina (Fondo, Reparaciones y Costas) at 32, §94.

²¹⁵ Caso Acosta Martínez y Otros Vs. Argentina (Fondo, Reparaciones y Costas) at 33, §99.

²¹⁶ Caso Acosta Martínez y Otros Vs. Argentina (Fondo, Reparaciones y Costas) at 34, §101.

general context to the facts of the case. In this case, there was a clear link between the phenomena of racial profiling that marks the police conduct in the State and the arrest of José Delfín²¹⁷. Therefore, the petitioners acknowledged the existence of structural racism and its implications in society but put it aside to focus on the individual aspect of this structure: the individual.

The second one was developed by the Commission, which placed racism as a consequence of the irregularities of the police enactment. According to the Commission, the illegalities of the regulation, being as unclear and open to discretion as it was, created space for discriminatory arbitrariness and, ultimately, the arrest of the victim²¹⁸. Here, it is hard to claim that the Commission adopted the concept of structural racism in its analysis. At odds with the understanding of racism encompassing the structures of society and focusing on the institutions, structures, and collective practices that maintain racial hierarchization²¹⁹, the Commission focused on the legality of the enactment and thus put aside even the conceptualization of overt discrimination.

The Court crystalized the third framing in between the last two. Aligned with the petitioners, the Court indeed acknowledged structural racism in Argentina²²⁰, including the consequence derived from it: the pattern of denial of the existence of Afro-descendant²²¹. In this sense, the Court placed the context of structural racism as an underlying factor accompanying the violation – a little bit further than the petitioners did and with a lot more boldness than the Commission framed the phenomena.

_

²¹⁷ Martinez, "Alegatos Finales Escritos Presentados Por Los Representantes," 13.

²¹⁸ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, "Informe de Fondo (No. 146/18, Caso 12.906)," 4.

²¹⁹ Bonilla-Silva, "What Makes Systemic Racism Systemic?," 515.

²²⁰ Caso Acosta Martínez y Otros Vs. Argentina (Fondo, Reparaciones y Costas) at 12, par. 35.

²²¹ Caso Acosta Martínez y Otros Vs. Argentina (Fondo, Reparaciones y Costas) at 12, par. 35.

However, this is not to say that the case developed much in conceptualizing structural racism. As aforementioned, in analyzing the State's responsibility and the placement of rights, the Court was quite conservative, ruling that the police enactment served as a veil to the discriminatory motives behind the detention and thus focusing on the enactment itself. The discussion of racial profiling and what is behind it was subsumed to the imperfections of the enactment, fundamentally understanding that, when it comes to structural racism, the analysis of the legality of the law is central. The Court did not analyze, as it was not induced to by the petitioners nor the Commission, whether the other rights might have been affected in the case. For example, in the analysis of judicial guarantees, it would be within the realm of discussion of structural racism to ask if the victim would have been mistreated in prison had he been white. Or if he would have had such a difficult and strenuous investigation procedure.

Comparing the greatest challenge in Argentina concerning structural racism and the decision issued so far, it cannot be said that the case is much helpful. Insofar as the black movements in Argentina have been trying to counteract the historical denial of the existence of Afrodescendant²²², the decision is beneficial, as the Court indeed recognized both. This evaluation assumes that when specific normative protection is lacking – or, in this sense, where the official recognition of the population as citizens of the State is insufficient -, the aid of international human rights law, even if only to provide recognition, is relevant to be a parameter for evaluating the legality of the administration's actions and improve the development of human rights²²³.

However, in regards to everything else, the value was not so high: The Court did not develop an understanding of the right to equality in the context of structural racism, it did not step up

²²² Monkevicius, "'No tenía que haber negros,'" 92.

²²³ Nash Rojas et al., "Impacto Del Derecho Internacional de Los Derechos Humanos En La Protección Jurisdiccional de Grupos En Situación de Discriminación Estructural En Chile," 225.

the discussion toward broader aspects than the individual and did not assist afro-descendant populations to gain a better position vis-á-vis the State to improve racial equality demands in the public agenda²²⁴. On the contrary, all in all, the decision relates to irregular administrative and legislative enactments.

Marks (2011) illustrates this insufficiency very clearly. She welcomes the current practice of the human rights movements to dwell on the reasons behind the violations and focus on addressing the root causes of human rights abuses, as it is a step beyond the previous model based on which the human rights violations were analyzed in detachment of the political, economic, and social contexts which created and maintained the violation²²⁵. However, she warns that a distinctive shallowness marks the analysis that key institutions such as the United Nations provide. The various reports and documents produced tend to identify the factors that facilitate violations but do not explain why human rights abuses occur and how they can be prevented²²⁶.

Following this lead, Marks (2011) affirms that when discussing root causes, human rights institutions halt the investigation too soon, treat effects as causes, and identify causes only to set them aside²²⁷. This system implies that bad procedures and rules, if replaced, could halt human rights abuses. Moreover, it narrows the discussions to individual policies and behaviors that allegedly put the identified incorrect procedures in place²²⁸. Consequently, human rights institutions disregard the systemic character of violations and fail to contemplate violations as part of a political decision rather than an anomaly. At the same time, they fail to address systematic abuse as systemic maintains the violation²²⁹. From this perspective, the human

²²⁴ Monkevicius, "'No tenía que haber negros," 102.

²²⁵ Marks, "Human Rights and Root Causes," 59.

²²⁶ Marks, 62.

²²⁷ Marks, 70.

²²⁸ Marks, 71–73.

²²⁹ Marks, 71.

rights system does more to effectively limit the possibilities of unveiling the causes of human rights violations and correcting unfairness than expand it²³⁰.

Her analysis clearly shows that she does not propose abandonment of the human rights language or mechanisms. Rather, she explains that the current practice is insufficient by arguing that it fails to convey the processes and structures that sustain the violation of rights or, in her words, "the socio-economic conditions within which those ideas were able to develop and gain influence" Translating this to racial discussions means recognizing human rights as one fragment of emancipation while warning about the gaps, inconsistencies, and shortcomings of the human rights practice. In the Argentinian case, the Court did delve into the inconsistences of the law – one aspect of human rights promotion – and even recognized the structures that hamper racial justice. However, the investigation into the cause was not developed further, leaving a gap where effective protection should be.

²³⁰ Marks, 71.

²³¹ Marks, 76.

Brazilian Cases (Favela Nova Brasília V. Brasil, Judgment of February 16, 2017; Empregados da Fábrica de Fogos de Santo Antônio de Jesus V. Brasil, Judgment of July 15, 2020; Trabalhadores da Fazenda Brasil Verde V. Brazil, Judgment of October 20, 2016)

Summary of the case

i. "Trabalhadores da Fazenda Brasil Verde V. Brazil" (2016) and "Empregados da Fábrica de Fogos de Santo Antônio de Jesus V. Brasil" (2021)

Both cases relate to acts committed by non-state actors under workers' rights, so they will be studied together.

"Trabalhadores da Fazenda Brasil Verde V. Brazil" was presented by Comissão Pastoral da Terra (CPT) and Centro pela Justiça e o Direito Internacional (CEJIL) – here in "the petitioners". It related to an alleged practice of forced labor analogous to slave labor and debt bondage at the Brasil Verde farm, located in the state of Pará.

The petitioners stood their grounds on alleged knowledge of the State of forced labor practices in Brazil and at Brasil Verde farm specifically. Based on that, they claimed that the State failed to protect and prevent human rights violations and, therefore, could be held accountable for acts perpetrated by private actors. Following this rationale, the petitioners claimed that Brazil violated articles 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 11, 19, 22, and 25 of the Convention in relation to articles 1.1 and 2 of the same instrument. The Commission concluded that the State was responsible for the same articles addressed by the petitioners. The State opposed the arguments, mainly

claiming that reports and inspections hadn't signalized any forced labor at Brasil Verde farm²³² and that the State adopted all effective preventive measures related to the facts²³³.

"Empregados da Fábrica de Fogos de Santo Antônio de Jesus V. Brasil" was presented by "Centro de Justiça Global", "Movimento 11 de Dezembro", "Comissão de Direitos Humanos da Ordem dos Advogados do Brasil (OAB) - Subseção de Salvador", "Fórum de Direitos Humanos de Santo Antônio de Jesus/Bahia", Ailton José dos Santos, Yulo Oiticica Pereira and Nelson Portela Pellegrino. The case related to the explosion at a fireworks factory in Santo Antônio de Jesus occurred on December 11, 1998, in which 64 people died, and six survived, including 22 children.

The petitioners and the Commission asked for the international responsibility of the State for violations of articles 4.1, 5.1, 19, 24, 26, 8.1, and 25.1 of the Convention in relation to articles 1.1 and 2 of the same instrument. The State challenged the arguments by claiming that it didn't know the real and immediate risks the victims were under²³⁴. Furthermore, the State claimed that the case did not convey a violation of Article 24, as Brazil had progressively improved the promotion of rights in the northeast region, aiming at developing the quality of life of the entire population and, in special, individuals in situations of vulnerability²³⁵.

ii. Favela Nova Brasília v. Brasil (2018)

The case was presented by "Centro pela Justiça", "Direito Internacional (CEJIL/Brasil)" and "Human Rights Watch /Americas". It referred to the failures and delays in the investigation and punishment of those responsible for the alleged extrajudicial executions of 26 people in

²³² "Escrito de Interposición de Excepciones Preliminares, Contestación a La Demanda y Observaciones al Escrito de Solicitudes, Argumentos y Pruebas Presentado Por El Estado (Caso 12. 066)," 24.

²³³ 297.

²³⁴ "Escrito de Contestación Del Estado (Caso 12.428)," 264.

²³⁵ 264.

the context of two police raids and sexual abuse of 3 women (2 of them minors) carried out by the Civil Police of Rio de Janeiro on October 18, 1994, and May 8, 1995, in Favela Nova Brasilia.

The petitioners and the Commission claimed that Brazil violated articles 5, 8, 19, 22, and 25 of the American Convention, in conjunction with articles 1.1 and 2 of the same instrument; articles 1, 6, and 8 of the Inter-American Convention to Prevent and Punish Torture and article 7 of the Inter-American Convention on the Prevention, Punishment, and Eradication of Violence Against Women. The State challenged all of the claims.

The Commission's claims

iii. "Trabalhadores da Fazenda Brasil Verde V. Brazil" (2016) and "Empregados da Fábrica de Fogos de Santo Antônio de Jesus V. Brasil" (2021)

In the two cases related to worker's rights, the connection between the background context of the country in relation to Afro-descendant populations, the alleged violations, and the legal standing before the American Convention was underdeveloped by the Commission.

In "*Trabalhadores da Fazenda Brasil Verde V. Brazil*", they claimed that the case had symbolic importance and was inserted in a broader structural context, highlighting the Inter-American Court's importance in providing standards²³⁶.

Very early on in the initial report, the Commission pointed out that slavery in Brazil existed as far back as the 17th century as a result of colonization²³⁷. Once the practice was formally

²³⁶ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, "Alegatos Finales Escritos Presentados Por La Comisión Interamericana (Caso 12.066)," 2.

²³⁷ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, "Escrito de Sometimiento Del Caso e Informe de Fondo Presentado Por La Comisión Interamericana de Derechos Humanos (Caso Nº 12.066)," 11.

abolished, the former slaved were left without assistance and therefore integrated into the lowest social class of the country²³⁸. Consequently, they often had to turn to structures or work that amounted to reconfigurations of slave labor²³⁹. Moreover, the Commission acknowledged that since the 20th century, industrial development expanded the phenomenon of slavery labor, which was carried out by private companies but facilitated by the collaboration of the state²⁴⁰. Finally, the Commission reported that, in Brazil, the main victim of slavery were Afrodescendant populations (black or brown) of the northeast region coming from the poorest states, and the structural causes relate to poverty and land accumulation²⁴¹. In this sense, the Commission clearly presented a background of the use of contemporary forms of slave labor in Brazil, in which the Afro-descendant populations were the main victims.

However, this background was not used to expand the interpretation of the right to equality accordingly. The background was used for something else: to establish the state's responsibility for acts of private actors. To create that link, the Commission disaggregated the criteria in three: i) state knowledge of the existence of a real and immediate risk, ii) particular situation of the victims, and iii) the reasonable possibility of prevention based on what the state knew or should have known²⁴². Following this, the Commission used the background to prove that the criteria had been met. For one, it stated that the widespread use of slave labor was so common in Brazil that attracted for the state a reasonable expectation of knowledge of that practice in the State of Pará (where the facts took place) and in the "Brasil Verde Farm" specifically, therefore meeting the first criteria²⁴³. On the other hand, the Commission claimed that the victims of the case mostly constituted the generally targeted victims of slave labor (afro-descendant males

²³⁸ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 12.

²³⁹ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 12.

²⁴⁰ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 12.

²⁴¹ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 13.

²⁴² Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 40.

²⁴³ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 40.

coming from the poorest states of the country), which placed them under a special vulnerability that, in turn, enhanced the duty of protection from the State²⁴⁴.

Furthermore, while the Commission called for an extensive interpretation of the rights of the declaration and the convention based on other international instruments pertinent to the case²⁴⁵, effectively using this extensive interpretation to shape the definition of contemporary slavery²⁴⁶ and to assert that contemporary slavery connects to violations to other rights, such as personal integrity, right to a dignified life, education, access to justice²⁴⁷, it did not analyze slavery within the lens of the right to equality and nondiscrimination. In other words, the Commission did not answer whether the practice of contemporary slavery amounts to an independent violation of the article do equality and why.

This underdevelopment was clearer when the Commission specifically referred to non-discrimination. The Commission considered that the background context highlighted a structural historical and social problem that disproportionally affected Afro-descendant man, that was poor and came from the northeast region of Brazil²⁴⁸. That problem denoted, in turn, a *de facto* discrimination against a certain group, marginalized in exercising the analyzed rights ²⁴⁹. The Commission concluded that Brazil failed to adopt sufficient and effective measures to guarantee, without discrimination, the rights of life, liberty, personal security, and equality to a family and the workers' work. Therefore, the right to equality was not violated independently but insofar as the other rights were violated. In this sense, for example, slavery was not considered a violation of the right to equality – it was regarded as a violation of the

²⁴⁴ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 42.

²⁴⁵ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 35.

²⁴⁶ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 36.

²⁴⁷ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 38.

²⁴⁸ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 45.

²⁴⁹ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 45.

right to circulation that, because it disproportionally affected a group of people, also amounted to a violation of the right to equality.

Despite that, the Commission turned to the analysis of nondiscrimination in relation to access to justice, which was not done in any other case related to Afro-descendant populations. The Commission stated a connection between violence, discrimination, and due diligence, concluding that impunity constitutes discrimination in the access to justice and the duty to guarantee²⁵⁰. Therefore, the Commission found concrete actions in the access to justice that reflect the context of structural discrimination in the country, namely how the numerous class suits were inefficient²⁵¹, how the disappearance of teenagers in the case and the vulnerability they were subjected to originated their exclusion from the legal and institutional order of the state and kept them out of the real and juridical world²⁵². According with the Commission: "a mensagem enviada pelo Estado aos trabalhadores submetidos a condições de escravidão indicava que as autoridades não realizariam investigações nem protegeriam os trabalhadores das fazendas que se encontravam numa situação similar"²⁵³.

In "Empregados da Fábrica de Fogos de Santo Antônio de Jesus V. Brasil", race was only briefly mentioned ²⁵⁴. The Commission followed the same pattern to establish state responsibility for the acts of private actors as in the previous case²⁵⁵, but the knowledge of the risk was connected to the obligations of regulation, supervision, and oversight of the factory

_

²⁵⁰ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 56.

²⁵¹ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 56.

²⁵² Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 60.

²⁵³ Translation from the author: "the message sent by the state to workers subjected to slave-like conditions indicated that the authorities would not conduct investigations or protect workers on the farms that were in a similar situation" Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 60.

²⁵⁴ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, "Observaciones Finales Presentadas Por La Comisión Interamericana (Caso 12.428)," 8.

²⁵⁵ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, "Informe de Fondo Presentado Por La Comisión Interamericana (Caso 12.428)," 20.

activities²⁵⁶and the special care of the state, in the case, derived from the situation of poverty they were subjected to²⁵⁷. According to the Commission:

Em virtude de todos esses elementos, a Comissão considera que as mortes e lesões das 70 vítimas do presente caso não ocorreram de maneira isolada, mas como consequência de uma situação de abandono e indiferença por parte de um Estado que reconheceu ter conhecimento disso, sem adotar, por décadas, medidas para oferecer aos habitantes do Município condições para atender aos conteúdos mais mínimos do direito ao trabalho. Tampouco cumpriu suas obrigações de fiscalização e supervisão, ao não exigir das empresas implicadas nessas atividades medidas de devida diligência que permitissem a proteção desse direito²⁵⁸.

iv. Favela Nova Brasília v. Brasil (2018)

In "Favela Nova Brasília", the context was used to measure the extent of state obligation. In this sense, the Commission elaborated on the background of security forces in Brazil, marked by extrajudicial execution, unlawful arrests, lack of investigation, impunity²⁵⁹, violence against children, and excessive use of force²⁶⁰. Another distinguishing factor was the inertia in the investigations of the irregularities or lack of relevant procedural activity²⁶¹, which created impunity and institutional tolerance that reinforced the violent context and therefore encouraged it²⁶². Based on those findings, the Commission found that the State violated the right to life in the case because the police exceeded the limits of the use of force in a context

²⁵⁶ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 20.

²⁵⁷ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 30.

²⁵⁸ Translation of the author: "In view of all these elements, the Commission considers that the deaths and injuries of the 70 victims in the present case did not occur in an isolated manner, but as a consequence of a situation of abandonment and indifference on the part of a State that acknowledged that it was aware of this, without adopting, for decades, without adopting measures to offer the inhabitants of the municipality conditions to meet the most minimum content of the right to work. Nor has it fulfilled its inspection and supervision obligations, by not requiring the companies involved in these activities to take the companies involved in these activities with due diligence measures that would allow the protection of this right. The protection of this right. Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 31.

²⁵⁹ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, "Informe de Fondo Presentado Por La Comisión Interamericana (Casos 11.566 e 11.694)," 25.

²⁶⁰ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 20.

²⁶¹ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 34.

²⁶² Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 25.

where the excess was common, as well as because the context of tolerance or encouragement of those practices is incompatible with effective protection to the right to life²⁶³.

This connection is interesting because the Commission recognized that, in Rio de Janeiro (where the facts took place), there's a tendency for social and racial profiling regarding police violence²⁶⁴. However, as the Commission did not develop how and why certain racial groups (namely Afro-descendant populations) were disproportionately affected nor developed the relation between that discrepancy and the enjoyment of rights, the right to equality was not connected to the background or the application of international law.

The petitioners' claims

i. "Trabalhadores da Fazenda Brasil Verde V. Brasil" (2016) and "Empregados da Fábrica de Fogos de Santo Antônio de Jesus V. Brasil" (2021)

In "Trabalhadores da Fazenda Brasil Verde V. Brasil", the petitioners used different strategies to connect the facts of the case to the principle of nondiscrimination. Ultimately, they used Article 1.1 of the Convention to do so²⁶⁵. However, those strategies were not necessarily translated to legal standings.

For one, the petitioners claimed that discrimination was a dimension of slavery, along with control, appropriation, and violence²⁶⁶. They further argued that structural discrimination justified the practices and allowed for the persistence of exploitation and slavery²⁶⁷. Moreover,

²⁶³ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 49.

²⁶⁴ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 23.

²⁶⁵ "Escrito de Solicitudes, Argumentos y Pruebas Presentado Por Los Representantes de Las Presuntas Víctimas (Caso 12.066)," 5.

²⁶⁶ 94.

²⁶⁷ 94.

the petitioners sustained that in Brazil, contemporary slavery was produced in a context of multiple discrimination, be it socioeconomic, educational, or racial²⁶⁸. The argument was that black or brown men from the northeast region of Brazil were under great vulnerability and therefore were forced to accept precarious conditions of labor²⁶⁹.

After that, the petitioners claimed that the structural process of inequality and exclusion refrained people from specific social sectors from accessing justice²⁷⁰. Through this argument, discrimination was not analyzed as a constituent of the phenomena (slavery) but as a factor that deterred the victims from accessing the legal system. Likewise, they claimed that, in this case, the lack of effective actions by the labor inspection and the recurrence of the facts highlighted a situation of structural discrimination in the state's response that effectively perpetuated the exploitation of certain groups²⁷¹.

Those arguments were not developed within legal standings. If discrimination were to constitute slavery, then the most reasonable claim would be that the violation of the right to equality or nondiscrimination only established the violation of Article 6 (freedom from slavery). The principle of nondiscrimination would not produce any further consequences. However, the petitioners claimed that the violation of the principle of nondiscrimination aggravated the violation of Article 6 and other connected rights.

On the other hand, the petitioners argued that the State violated the right to judicial protection and guarantees concerning the right to non-discrimination. In this sense, they were aligned with their claim that the right to judicial guarantees subsumed discrimination, as it was more of a cause that impeded victims from accessing the legal system than an independent violation. This

²⁶⁹ 103

^{268 102}

²⁷⁰ 104

²⁷¹ 136

understanding was enhanced throughout the document. The petitioners argued, for example, that slavery originated multiple violations of human rights but did not include nondiscrimination or equality among the affected rights²⁷².

Ultimately, the petitioners shifted between finding discrimination the origin of a violation, as when they argued that discrimination was at the root of the submission of someone to slavery and led to violation of one's dignity²⁷³; and the consequence of the violation, evident when they claimed that slavery stripped away the possibility to exercise rights, and therefore puts the individual in an unequal position²⁷⁴.

Finally, when specifically addressing the right to non-discrimination, the petitioners claimed that structural discrimination against Afro-descendant populations and people affected by poverty placed them in a situation of special vulnerability and attracted a special duty of care from the state²⁷⁵. Therefore, the violation of the right to nondiscrimination derived from the omission of the State to perform its aggravated duty of care in the face of a group in special vulnerability.

This pattern of argumentation was kept in the closing arguments²⁷⁶. However, by then, the link to discrimination was attached along the lines of poverty instead of racial imbalances²⁷⁷. The petitioners claimed that discrimination was an underlying influence in every aspect of the violation of Article 6 of the Convention, be it the perception of control, the possibility of the victims seeking resources, or the perpetuation of illegal practices²⁷⁸.

²⁷³ 109.

²⁷² **106**.

²⁷⁴ **111**.

²⁷⁵ 116.

²⁷⁶ "Alegatos Finales Escritos Presentados Por Los Representantes," June 28, 2016, 29, 49 and 70.

²⁷⁷ 30, 41,

²⁷⁸ 98.

On the other hand, the petitioners in "Empregados da Fábrica de Fogos de Santo Antônio de Jesus V. Brasil" had a way clearer and more focused legal standing related to the situation of Afro-descendant populations and the facts of the case. After highlighting that the facts were inserted in a historically unequal structure that placed certain groups in a situation of vulnerability²⁷⁹, narrating the social conditions of the black population, and how historical developments led to the current exploitation system that affected them primarily²⁸⁰, the petitioners claimed that victims of the case were in a situation of vulnerability²⁸¹. In this sense, they argued that the right to equality enshrined in article 24 of the Convention, read in conjunction with article 1.1 of the same instrument, demanded from the state a special duty of care in the face of vulnerable groups²⁸² that Brazil did not oblige to²⁸³.

In this sense, the right to equality was forecasted as an independent violation. The background of inequality and discrimination created a vulnerability that exposed certain groups to a situation of vulnerability, placing them at aggravated risk of violation of human rights²⁸⁴. Therefore, according to the petitioners, the omission related to the special care violated the right to equality, regardless of other violations that followed²⁸⁵.

ii. Favela Nova Brasília v. Brasil (2018)

In "Favela Nova Brasília", the petitioners extensively described the broader context of police violence in Brazil. They explicitly conveyed, for example, that the main victims of lethal police

²⁸¹ 18.

²⁷⁹ "Escrito de Solicitudes, Argumentos y Pruebas Presentado Por Los Representantes de Las Presuntas Víctimas," 6.

²⁸⁰ 7.

^{282 10}

^{283 22}

²⁸⁴ "Alegatos Finales Escritos Presentados Por Los Representantes," 49.

²⁸⁵ 59.

violence in the country were black men²⁸⁶ and that police violence was an indicator of the relations of segregation in Brazil²⁸⁷. However, even after claiming that police violence targeted specific groups, the petitioners did not argue for an independent violation of the right to equality or nondiscrimination. They also did not use racial discrimination as an underlying factor in the analysis of other rights.

The Court's standing

iii. "Caso Trabalhadores da Fazenda Brasil Verde V. Brasil" (2016) and "Empregados da Fábrica de Fogos de Santo Antônio de Jesus V. Brasil" (2021)

In "Trabalhadores da Fazenda Brasil Verde", the Court mostly referred to the link between the situation of poverty, vulnerability, and obligations of States. Even within this connection, the legal liability stemming from structural issues was not clearly developed. All in all, the racial implications were not confronted by the Court.

Right at the beginning of the assessment of the facts, the Court provided a historical approach to slave labor in Brazil, tracing the phenomena back to colonial enterprises and, in current times, to poverty and property concentration²⁸⁸. Simultaneously, the Court recognized that the main victims of slave labor were poor, afro-descendant men between 18 and 40 years old²⁸⁹. According with the Court "debido a su extrema pobreza, su situación de vulnerabilidad y su desesperación por trabajar, los trabajadores muchas veces aceptan las condiciones de trabajo

²⁸⁶ "Escrito de Solicitudes, Argumentos y Pruebas Presentado Por Los Representantes de Las Presuntas Víctimas (Casos11.566 e 11.694)," 23.

²⁸⁸ Caso Trabalhadores da Fazenda Brasil Verde Vs. Brasil (Exceções Prelim inares, Mérito, Reparações e Custas)

²⁸⁹ Caso Trabalhadores da Fazenda Brasil Verde Vs. Brasil (Exceções Prelim inares, Mérito, Reparações e Custas) at 28.

antes descritas"²⁹⁰. It was not clarified, however, whether the vulnerability stemmed from poverty, or another factor, particularly considering that the Court mentioned earlier several factors that could be read as points of vulnerability.

This uncertainty was accompanied by another interesting factor: the Court only sparsely mentioned nondiscrimination and the right to equality. For example, the Court chose to analyze the allegations of the Commission and the petitioners under the scope of Article 6 of the American Convention. The tribunal regarded the content of individual rights such as personal integrity, liberty, and restriction of freedom of movement as constitutive elements of slavery. It, therefore, subsumed its analysis to the analysis of Article 6²⁹¹. Discrimination or racism was not among those constitutive elements. At the same token, while the Court focused on establishing that the case constituted a situation analogous to traditional slavery²⁹², little attention was paid to the victims of this type of exploitation or the reasons behind it. That underdevelopment was withstood even when the Court stated that the State had the responsibility to guarantee the creation of required conditions to impede the production of violation of the prohibition to slavery²⁹³. Maybe because of that, the Court mainly cited measures of prevention that could only be taken after the phenomena, such as investigating to identify and judge the responsible or adopting measures of protection and assistance to victims²⁹⁴. Only briefly, the Court stated that States must adopt preventive measures in specific

²⁹⁰ Translation from the author: "Due to their extreme poverty, their vulnerable situation and their desperation to work, workers often accept the working conditions described above." Caso Trabalhadores da Fazenda Brasil Verde Vs. Brasil (Exceções Prelim inares, Mérito, Reparações e Custas) at 28.

²⁹¹ Caso Trabalhadores da Fazenda Brasil Verde Vs. Brasil (Exceções Prelim inares, Mérito, Reparações e Custas) at 79.

²⁹² Caso Trabalhadores da Fazenda Brasil Verde Vs. Brasil (Exceções Prelim inares, Mérito, Reparações e Custas) at 72.

²⁹³ Caso Trabalhadores da Fazenda Brasil Verde Vs. Brasil (Exceções Prelim inares, Mérito, Reparações e Custas) at 82.

²⁹⁴ Caso Trabalhadores da Fazenda Brasil Verde Vs. Brasil (Exceções Prelim inares, Mérito, Reparações e Custas) at 82.

cases in which it is evident that determined groups may be victims of slavery²⁹⁵. In any case, in the chapter focused on linking the duty to prevent and non-discrimination, the Court linked the State's responsibilities to take action in the face of the civil society organizations' reports of the existence of situation analogous to slavery in "*Brasil Verde*", and chose not to mention the existence of vulnerable groups²⁹⁶.

On the other hand, the case was a benchmark in the Court's jurisprudence for the specific mention of structural discrimination under the independent analysis of Article 24 of the Convention. The court clarified that if discrimination is found in the guarantee of a given right established in the convention, the State is responsible for violating Article 1.1 and the substantive right in question. If, however, discrimination is manifested in unequal protection of internal law or its application, then the facts must be analyzed under Article 24 of the convention²⁹⁷. Moreover, the Court stated that all discriminatory treatment in relation to the enjoyment of any right guarantee in the convention is, *per se*, incompatible with the Convention²⁹⁸. If the state fails to respect and guarantee human rights through discriminatory treatment, then the state is internationally responsible²⁹⁹. In this sense, the Court specifically constructed a link between the obligations to respect and guarantee human rights and the principle of equality and nondiscrimination.

712

²⁹⁵ Caso Trabalhadores da Fazenda Brasil Verde Vs. Brasil (Exceções Prelim inares, Mérito, Reparações e Custas) at 82

²⁹⁶ Caso Trabalhadores da Fazenda Brasil Verde Vs. Brasil (Exceções Prelim inares, Mérito, Reparações e Custas) at 83.

²⁹⁷ Caso Trabalhadores da Fazenda Brasil Verde Vs. Brasil (Exceções Prelim inares, Mérito, Reparações e Custas) at 86.

²⁹⁸ Caso Trabalhadores da Fazenda Brasil Verde Vs. Brasil (Exceções Prelim inares, Mérito, Reparações e Custas) at 86.

²⁹⁹ Caso Trabalhadores da Fazenda Brasil Verde Vs. Brasil (Exceções Prelim inares, Mérito, Reparações e Custas) at 86.

Most importantly, the Court stated that any person in a situation of vulnerability is entitled to special protection due to the special duty of the state to respect and guarantee human rights³⁰⁰. This special protection may be derived from a personal condition or specific situation, like extreme poverty or marginalization. If that condition or situation arises, the state must adopt positive measures. Based on that understanding, the Court established a jurisprudence that recognized a state's responsibility stemming from a situation of structural discrimination – which, in turn, reflected in a violation of article 1.1 of the Convention³⁰¹. The discrimination was analyzed through class status, as follows:

La Corte constata, en el presente caso, algunas características de particular victimización compartidas por los 85 trabajadores rescatados el 15 de marzo de 2000: se encontraban en una situación de pobreza; provenían de las regiones más pobres del país, con menor desarrollo humano y perspectivas de trabajo y empleo; eran analfabetas, y tenían poca o nula escolarización (supra párr. 41).

This understanding was brought back in "Empregados da Fábrica de Fogos de Santo Antônio de Jesus V. Brasil". While in the last case, it was unclear from where the Court had considered that the vulnerability stemmed, in "Empregados da Fábrica de Fogos de Santo Antônio de Jesus", the victims were clearly identified. The Court signalized that the region where the violations took place was known for having a historical presence of Afro-descendant populations, that in turn, faced exclusion and restriction of several rights ³⁰² and that the concerned factory mostly employed Afro-descendant women that lived in poverty and had a low level of education ³⁰³.

³⁰⁰ Caso Trabalhadores da Fazenda Brasil Verde Vs. Brasil (Exceções Prelim inares, Mérito, Reparações e Custas) at 87.

³⁰¹ Caso Trabalhadores da Fazenda Brasil Verde Vs. Brasil (Exceções Prelim inares, Mérito, Reparações e Custas) at 88.

³⁰² Caso Empleados de La Fábrica de Fuegos en Santo Antônio de Jesus Y sus familiares Vs Brasil (Interpretación de la Sentencia de Excepciones Preliminares, Fondo, Reparaciones y Costas) at 19.

³⁰³ Caso Empleados de La Fábrica de Fuegos en Santo Antônio de Jesus Y sus familiares Vs Brasil (Interpretación de la Sentencia de Excepciones Preliminares, Fondo, Reparaciones y Costas) at 22.

Furthermore, the Court analyzed the violations of Article 24 and 1.1 of the convention, considering that the arguments of the commission and the petitioners focused on the discrimination suffered by the victims given their conditions as an afro-descendant women living in a situation of poverty; as well as the omission in the duty to adopt positive measures to guarantee their rights ³⁰⁴. In the same token, the Court identified an intersection of discrimination factors, with a concurrence of poverty, gender, and race, besides the confluence of all of them³⁰⁵. Particularly, the Court traced back the conditions of discrimination suffered by Afro-descendant populations³⁰⁶.

Having detected that the victims belonged to a group of special vulnerability, the Court established that the State was under a heightened duty of respect and guarantee³⁰⁷. Even more, the Court stated that Article 24 of the Convention demands the construction of material equality, defined as the adoption of positive promotion measures in favor of historically discriminated against or marginalized groups³⁰⁸. In this sense, according to the Court, the right to equality implies the correction of existing inequalities, the promotion of the inclusion and participation of historically marginalized groups, and the guarantee that individuals in positions of disadvantage effectively enjoy their rights³⁰⁹. Omission by the State to adopt such measures worsens the experience of victimization of marginalized groups³¹⁰. In the words of the Court:

³⁰⁴ Caso Empleados de La Fábrica de Fuegos en Santo Antônio de Jesus Y sus familiares Vs Brasil (Interpretación de la Sentencia de Excepciones Preliminares, Fondo, Reparaciones y Costas) at 52.

³⁰⁵ Caso Empleados de La Fábrica de Fuegos en Santo Antônio de Jesus Y sus familiares Vs Brasil (Interpretación de la Sentencia de Excepciones Preliminares, Fondo, Reparaciones y Costas) at 55.

³⁰⁶ Caso Empleados de La Fábrica de Fuegos en Santo Antônio de Jesus Y sus familiares Vs Brasil (Interpretación de la Sentencia de Excepciones Preliminares, Fondo, Reparaciones y Costas) at 56.

³⁰⁷ Caso Empleados de La Fábrica de Fuegos en Santo Antônio de Jesus Y sus familiares Vs Brasil (Interpretación de la Sentencia de Excepciones Preliminares, Fondo, Reparaciones y Costas) at 57.

³⁰⁸ Caso Empleados de La Fábrica de Fuegos en Santo Antônio de Jesus Y sus familiares Vs Brasil (Interpretación de la Sentencia de Excepciones Preliminares, Fondo, Reparaciones y Costas) at 57.

³⁰⁹ Caso Empleados de La Fábrica de Fuegos en Santo Antônio de Jesus Y sus familiares Vs Brasil (Interpretación de la Sentencia de Excepciones Preliminares, Fondo, Reparaciones y Costas) at 57.

³¹⁰ Caso Empleados de La Fábrica de Fuegos en Santo Antônio de Jesus Y sus familiares Vs Brasil (Interpretación de la Sentencia de Excepciones Preliminares, Fondo, Reparaciones y Costas) at 57.

En el caso concreto, este Tribunal ha determinado que las empleadas de la fábrica de fuegos hacían parte de un grupo discriminado o marginado porque se encontraban en una situación de pobreza estructural y eran, en una amplísima mayoría, mujeres y niñas afrodescendientes. Sin embargo, el Estado no adoptó ninguna medida que pueda ser valorada por la Corte como una forma de enfrentar o de buscar revertir la situación de pobreza y marginación estructural de las trabajadoras de la fábrica de fuegos, con atención a los factores de discriminación que confluían en el caso concreto.

To sum it up, from this understanding of the Court, structural discrimination was recognized as having legal consequences, and those consequences were deemed independent from other substantive rights. In this sense, it could be argued based on this jurisprudence that article 1.1 of the Convention is violated every time a State faces a situation of structural discrimination and does not adopt positive measures to reverse it. Moreover, the groups that face structural discrimination are considered vulnerable and demand the State's special duty of care. Finally, in the face of a violation of a substantive right, the situation can be reviewed under the context of structural discrimination, as the latter will determine the extent of the State's obligations in relation to that specific right, in conjunction with article 1.1 of the Convention.

In this case, it is interesting that the Court argued for the existence, in Brazil, of structural poverty³¹¹. However, there was no mention of structural racism, named as discrimination³¹².

iv. Favela Nova Brasília v. Brasil (2018)

In stark contrast to the other cases, in "Favela Nova Brasília", the Court did not make a connection between the broader context and the obligations of the State. While the Court indeed mentioned that, in Brazil, the main victims of police violence were young black, poor, and unarmed individuals³¹³, that context did not determine the tone of the analysis of the judicial

³¹¹ Caso Empleados de La Fábrica de Fuegos en Santo Antônio de Jesus Y sus familiares Vs Brasil (Interpretación de la Sentencia de Excepciones Preliminares, Fondo, Reparaciones y Costas) at 57.

³¹² Caso Empleados de La Fábrica de Fuegos en Santo Antônio de Jesus Y sus familiares Vs Brasil (Interpretación de la Sentencia de Excepciones Preliminares, Fondo, Reparaciones y Costas) at 56.

³¹³ Caso Favela Nova Brasília Vs. Brasil (Exceções Preliminares, Mérito, Reparações e Custas) at 28/29.

guarantees in the case. Indeed, the Court recognized that a series of omissions and negligence marked police actions at the time³¹⁴. But there was no analysis of why those omissions occurred, what was behind them, and who suffered the most. The principles of equality and nondiscrimination were not mentioned.

Conclusion

The essential characteristic of the Brazilian cases was the Court's willingness – to a certain degree - to abide by the petitioners' standing on structural racism, despite the conservative approach adopted by the Commission. In this sense, three different approaches were visible in the Brazilian cases, in a more starking way than the Argentinian's and the Colombian's: the first one, more conservative, adopted by the Commission; the second one, bolder, adopted by the petitioners, and the third one, in an intermediate stance, adopted by the Court.

The one-sided and conservative approach adopted by the Commission was more visible in "Trabalhadores da Fazenda Brasil Verde" (2016). In this case, the Commission acknowledged the existence of a historical and social problem that disproportionally affected Afro-descendant men that were poor and came from the northeast region of Brazil, which could lead to the use of the concept of structural racism. However, the chosen path of the Commission was to display the phenomena as *de facto* discrimination 315. The discrimination, in turn, prompted the obligation of the State to adopt sufficient and effective measures to guarantee without discrimination the rights discussed in the case.

While the Commission used innovative understandings that could have sewed together a new legal paradigm, it leaned on inadequate terminologies (discrimination instead of structural

³¹⁵ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, "Escrito de Sometimiento Del Caso e Informe de Fondo Presentado Por La Comisión Interamericana de Derechos Humanos (Caso Nº 12.066)," 45.

³¹⁴ Caso Favela Nova Brasília Vs. Brasil (Exceções Preliminares, Mérito, Reparações e Custas) at 53.

racism) and arguably inadequate legal classifications (right to equality as subsumed to other rights instead of having independent standing). This trend is interesting to follow considering that the case related to context analogous to slavery, where not only could the right to equality have been developed further, but also demanded a more advanced understanding from the Commission.

Where the racial element and discrimination were not as obvious, the Commission was even less bold. In "Empregados da Fábrica de Fogos de Santo Antônio de Jesus" (2021), which also touched upon the responsibility of the State for the actions of private actors, race was not developed at all. The Commission based the discussions of the special duty of the state on the victims' poverty situation³¹⁶. By the same token, in "Favela Nova Brasília" (2018), the Commission acknowledged the context of racial profiling within the police in Brazil. Still, it did not develop how this background translates into the State's responsibility.

The petitioners, however, framed the racial issues distinctively. The oldest case is "Trabalhadores da Fazenda Brasil Verde" (2016), where the petitioners used multiple framing strategies. On the one hand, the petitioners claimed that discrimination constituted slavery, in other words being an undissociated element of the phenomena³¹⁷, and argued that the violation of the principle of nondiscrimination aggravated the violation of Article 6 and other connected rights. On the other, they argued that discrimination was a cause that impeded victims from accessing the legal system and therefore constituted an independent violation alongside the violation of substantive rights. At the same time, they shifted between finding discrimination as the cause of the violation³¹⁸ and the consequence of the same³¹⁹. When specifically dealing

³¹⁶ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, "Informe de Fondo Presentado Por La Comisión Interamericana (Caso 12.428)," 20.

³¹⁷ "Escrito de Solicitudes, Argumentos y Pruebas Presentado Por Los Representantes de Las Presuntas Víctimas (Caso 12.066)," 94.

³¹⁸ 109.

³¹⁹ 111.

with the right to non-discrimination, the petitioners used the Commission's claim that structural discrimination placed the victims in a situation of special vulnerability and required a special duty of care from the State³²⁰.

All in all, despite using the terminology discrimination instead of racism or structural racism, the petitioners seemed to adhere to structural racism (what they call discrimination). Stemming from the same fact (the one's subjection to a situation analogous to slavery), they conceptualized the influence of discrimination in the origin of the fact, the causes behind it, and the consequences after it. In this sense, they were aligned with Bonilla-Silva's understanding of structural racism: a system that conforms to society hierarchically and produces racially hierarchical categories in all social relations³²¹. This broader interpretation is what explains why structural racism would constitute the violation of rights (one of the elements of modern slavery would be discrimination and segregation along racial lines), causes the violations of rights (the pattern established by structural racism would create modern slavery) and reverberates in the consequences of violation (the victims would have less access to courts as they would be more vulnerable to the violation of rights).

This approach is already bolder than the one adopted by the Commission when dealing with structural racism. However, overall, the petitioners used too much of an uncoordinated strategy. The petitioners adopted a rich conceptualization but failed to translate the richness into the legal standing – for example, they did not argue that modern slavery originates a violation of nondiscrimination and equality; they claimed that the principle of nondiscrimination aggravates the violation of article 6 and other connected rights instead of disaggregating them;

³²⁰ 116

³²¹ Bonilla-Silva, "Rethinking Racism," 469.

and over-focused on the influence of discrimination in the violation of article 6, instead of furthering the relation in the other concerned rights.

In "Favela Nova Brasília", the petitioners did not develop the relationship between police violence and discrimination to construct a solid background context capable of influencing legal standing or State responsibility. Therefore, structural racism was not even mentioned.

On the other spectrum, in the newest studied case, 'Empregados da Fábrica de Fogos de Santo Antônio de Jesus", the petitioners positioned the unequal structure that maintains racial hierarchization well enough to argue for an independent claim on the right to equality. They claimed that the exploitation system generated the State a special duty to protect stemming from articles 1.1 and 24 of the Convention, regardless of other violations that may follow³²², while also claiming that the affected population was in a situation of vulnerability that aggravated the responsibility of the State in case of violations of substantive rights.

Facing those almost opposing framing strategies, the Court overall decided on an intermediary stance. This is clearer in "*Trabalhadores da Fazenda Brasil Verde*", where the Court's understanding was somewhat middle-ground between the Commission's conservative position and the petitioner's multiple strategies that were not translated into placement in the legal standing.

On the one hand, the Court indeed adhered to the idea of structural discrimination, not only to recognize its existence but also to state that the phenomena attracted to the State an obligation to adopt positive measures. Conversely, the said recognition was attached to class vulnerabilities instead of racial ones. Moreover, the Court only sparsely mentioned

_

^{322 &}quot;Escrito de Solicitudes, Argumentos y Pruebas Presentado Por Los Representantes de Las Presuntas Víctimas," 18.

nondiscrimination and the right to equality in the analysis of substantive rights, besides having left unclear whether the belonging of a specific race constituted a situation of vulnerability.

In "Favela Nova Brasília v. Brasil (2018)", the Court did not address race whatsoever in the legal standings, much like the petitioners and the Commission.

In "Empregados da Fábrica de Fogos de Santo Antônio de Jesus" (2021), the Court used the basis that it had already settled in "Trabalhadores da Fazenda Brasil Verde" to reaffirm that structural discrimination has indeed legal consequences. The Court brought back the reflection on structural discrimination to declare that the right to equality implies the correction of existing inequalities and the promotion of the inclusion and participation of historically marginalized groups, and the guarantee that individuals in a position of disadvantaged effective enjoy their rights, besides stating that omission by the State in adopting such measures worsens the experience of victimization of the marginalized group. Furthermore, the Court set three legal consequences that follow the recognition of structural discrimination: a) article 1.1 of the Convention is violated every time a State faces a situation of structural discrimination and does not adopt positive measures to reverse it; b) the groups that face structural discrimination are considered to be in special vulnerability and demands from State special duty of care; c) in the face of a violation of a substantive right, the situation can be reviewed under the context of structural discrimination, as the latter will determine the extent of the obligations of the State in relation to that specific right, in conjunction with article 1.1 of the Convention. However, the Court decided to refer to poverty as structural poverty and structural racism as discrimination.

The patterns of the Court showcase that the decision has been following more or less the lead set by the petitioners. The Court is as forward-looking as the petitioners are willing to go in terms of legal standings and placement of State-responsibility, albeit the recognition of

structural racism is not developed in the jurisprudence even in "Empregados da Fábrica de Fogos de Santo Antônio de Jesus", where the petitioners stretched the understanding of the phenomena. While this research does not intend to tackle the hesitancy of the Court to refer to structural racism as such, the hesitation is worth noting and does little to help address the most prominent indication of structural racism in Brazil: the need to implement or restructure public policies, that focus on African-descendant populations, in the quest to reverse the vulnerability and marginalization they are subjected to 323. The Court did not use the background of human rights protection to incorporate concrete additional and complementary obligations to the State, as it did in other occasions related to the rights of health or education 324. Therefore, it seems that the Court, much like it is done within the traditional approach toward racism, did not account for how policies (or the lack thereof) produce racial harm 325. The absence of those standards and developments overlooks how institutional arrangements play a role in constructing a society and, therefore, how institutional tinkering can reshape racial meanings toward a more equitable framework 326.

Colombian Case [Caso de las comunidades afrodescendientes desplazadas de la Cuenca del Río Cacarica (Operación Génesis), Judgment of November 20, 2013]

Summary of the case

The case was presented by the "Comisón Interclesial de Justicia y Paz" (hereinafter the "petitioners". It concerns the State's responsibility for alleged human rights violations committed in connection with "Operación Génesis", near the territories of the Afro-descendant

³²³ Carneiro, Racismo, sexismo e desigualdade no Brasil, 33.

Nash Rojas et al., "Impacto Del Derecho Internacional de Los Derechos Humanos En La Protección Jurisdiccional de Grupos En Situación de Discriminación Estructural En Chile." 228.

³²⁵ Powell, "Structural Racism," 794.

³²⁶ Powell, 813.

communities of the Cacarica River basin, which resulted in the death of Marino López Mena and the forced displacement of hundreds of people, many of whom were members of the Afrodescendant communities living along the banks of the Cacarica River.

The petitioners claimed that the disputed territory had been ancestrally inhabited by the Afrodescendant populations, which, in turn, developed deep community and collective bonds with the land, besides distinctive cultural practices and communal lifestyle³²⁷. They also argued that "Operación Genesis" was carried out by the national army of Colombia with the collaboration of paramilitary groups and targeted the communities, causing forced displacement, terror, and loss of land of projects of life³²⁸. According to the victims, Marino López was tortured and killed, and dozens of assassinations, forced disappearances, threats, and harassment were carried out against the communities. Additionally, the properties of the communities were destroyed, and private companies unlawfully exploited the land³²⁹. This context showcased the generalized and systematic violation of human rights faced by the Afro-descendant populations in Colombia that lived along the Cacarica River, which allegedly constituted a violation of individual and collective rights and a crime against humanity³³⁰.

The Commission supported the claims of the petitioners and found that the State was responsible for the violation of Articles 4, 5, and 1.1 of the American Convention in relation to Marino López; articles 1.1, 5, 11, 17, 19, 21, and 24 of the same instrument in relation to the community, their woman and their children, besides article 8 and 5 of the Convention and articles 1, 6 and 8 of the Inter-American Convention to Prevent and Punish Torture³³¹.

Presunta Víctima," 6. ³²⁸ Giraldo et al., 6.

327 Giraldo et al., "Escrito de Solicitudes, Argumentos y Pruebas Presentado Por Los Representantes de La

³²⁹ Giraldo et al., 7.

³³⁰ Giraldo et al., 7.

³³¹ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, "Informe de Fondo (No. 64/11, Caso 12.573)," 3.

The State recognized its international responsibility concerning the violation of articles 8 and 25 of the Convention concerning Marino López and the community³³². However, it argued that: i) the displacement and the death of Marino López were a result of actions of paramilitary forces only³³³; ii) the "Operación Génesis" aimed at hitting a paramilitary group's fronts and rescuing kidnapped children and therefore did not target civilian³³⁴; iii) general context should not be taken into consideration in the assessment of the case, only the specific facts concerning "Operación Génesis"³³⁵; iv) the State never collaborated with paramilitary or armed groups³³⁶.

The Commission's claims

To trace back the relation that the Commission drew between the facts of the case and the race element, it is important to break down the main aspects of rights delineated by the petitioners:

a) the individual rights of Marino López and his family; ii) the collective rights of the members of the afro-descendant communities, before, during and after the displacement. Those were two big umbrellas under which the Commission regarded the case. The interesting feature of this case is that they were carefully intertwined, albeit separate.

Even before assessing the rights, the Commission signalized that the geographic, historical, socioeconomic, and cultural situation of the Afro-descendant population in Colombia would be decisive in the case analysis³³⁷. That is the first ground laid by the Commission: the situation of the Afro-descendant communities in Cacarica³³⁸. The Commission highlighted three aspects: i) that the region held a rich biodiversity and was mainly occupied by an Afro-

³³² República de Colombia, "Alegatos Finales Escritos Presentados Por El Estado (Caso 12. 573)," 2.

³³³ República de Colombia, "Escrito de Contestación a La Demanda y Observaciones al Escrito de Solicitudes, Argumentos y Pruebas Presentado Por El Estado," 25.

³³⁴ República de Colombia, 24.

³³⁵ República de Colombia, 31.

³³⁶ República de Colombia, 32.

³³⁷ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, "Informe de Fondo (No. 64/11, Caso 12.573)," 21.

³³⁸ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 22.

descendant population; ii) that the communities placed there had traditional practices and distinctive cultural identity and were entitled to collective property, which was recognized by national legislation; iii) that the communities had long suffered acts of violence by armed groups that wanted to take control of the region³³⁹.

Additionally, the Commission pointed out that the armed conflict in the region caused widespread violence against the Afro-descendant communities, including massacres, executions, disappearances, torture, sexual violence, etc³⁴⁰. The acts were carried out both by state agents and paramilitaries groups and aimed at obtaining information and perpetuating social cleansing³⁴¹. On that note, the Commission noted that Afro-Colombians were victims of what they called active and passive discrimination of the State, which accounts for the systemic, official, and nonofficial discrimination stemming from Colombia towards the groups³⁴². Following this puzzle, the Commission found indications that the displacement of the communities was not voluntary, to run away from the ongoing conflict, but rather specifically ordered by the armed actors in their invasions³⁴³.

Another interesting document was the decision issued by the Constitutional Court of Colombia in 2004. The Commission displayed that the Court characterized the displacement as an "unconstitutional state of affairs", as it constituted a massive and reiterated violation of human rights facilitated by the structural failures of the public policies of the State³⁴⁴.

The path followed by the Commission led to a declared extensive interpretation of the American Convention³⁴⁵, at least when it comes to the analysis of the duty to protect and

³³⁹ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 23.

³⁴⁰ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 24.

³⁴¹ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 24.

³⁴² Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 25.

³⁴³ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 25.

³⁴⁴ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 26.

³⁴⁵ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 26.

prevent of the States. Bottom line, the Commission stated that given the circumstances, the State was under a special and heightened duty to protect and prevent human rights violations, and the communities were under a special context of vulnerability³⁴⁶. However, it was unclear if that special duty and this vulnerability stemmed from the displacement only or the combination of displacement and racial discrimination. The ambiguity was evident in this excerpt:

Los grupos paramilitares habían anunciado que iban a tomar el control de la zona por lo que era razonable, que el Estado, que hacía presencia en el área com la Brigada XVII del Ejército Nacional, tuvlera conocimiento del riesgo que significaban las amenazas de incursiones paramilitares para las comunidades afrodescendientes. Esta situación de riesgo para la población civil y el hecho que dicha población pertenezca a um grupo en especial riesgo de violación de sus derechos humanos obliga a um deber de protección, en este caso especial, por parte del Estado. Por lo tanto, la Comisión considera que para el caso concreto era razonable pensar que este riesgo que el Estado adoptara medidas conforme a esse deber especial de prevención y protección de la población civil afrodescendiente, por lo que Colombia tenía la obligación de adoptarlas y no las adoptó³⁴⁷.

The Commission regarded the forced displacement in Colombia at that time as a humanitarian catastrophe ³⁴⁸ that created multiple human rights violations ³⁴⁹. The Commission also mentioned the Constitutional Court of Colombia's decision declaring that people affected by forced displacement were more vulnerable and required special care ³⁵⁰. In that case, the character of a "specially protected group" flowed from the displacement ³⁵¹. On the other hand, the Commission mentioned the Constitutional Court's recognition of the Afro-descendant population as one that falls under special constitutional protection ³⁵² and how the displacement disproportionately impacted the group ³⁵³. In this sense, it appeared like the Commission argued that displacement, regardless of the group affected, generated a special duty to prevent and

³⁴⁶ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 58.

³⁴⁷ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 62.

³⁴⁸ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 70.

³⁴⁹ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 72.

³⁵⁰ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 72.

³⁵¹ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 74.

³⁵² Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 73.

³⁵³ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 74.

protect in the State and a special layer of protection for the displaced³⁵⁴. However, considering that the targeted group, in this case, was Afro-descendant, which already harbored special protection in Colombia, the duty was even more heightened³⁵⁵.

The question is then how and why that differentiation mattered, particularly because the Commission did not deepen this analysis. For example, the Commission pointed out that children have a right to physical and emotional protection but did not link this development to the belonging of a racialized group, for example ³⁵⁶. This connection could have been developed, as it was done by the Constitutional Court of Colombia, which highlighted that the displacement promoted a rupture of the life projects of afro Colombian children, both in its individual and collective dimensions³⁵⁷.

Furthermore, the Commission recognized that even before the displacement, the Afrodescendant populations in Cacarica were victims of systematic discrimination, which was worsened by the armed conflict and the lack of data³⁵⁸. The Commission also noted that the discrimination suffered by the group following the displacement demanded an extensive interpretation of the American Convention³⁵⁹that encompassed notions of intersectionality³⁶⁰ and obligations to the State to refrain from discriminating, prohibit discriminatory acts in its jurisdiction, and adopt positive measures to combat discrimination ³⁶¹. However, the Commission did not mention – it didn't even address – which measures would be and how they would differ from other measures adopted for white displaced populations. This was not

³⁵⁴ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 79 and 85.

³⁵⁵ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 74.

³⁵⁶ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 82.

³⁵⁷ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 82.

³⁵⁸ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 89.

³⁵⁹ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 90.

³⁶⁰ The Commission defined intersectionality as situations of multiple discrimination. Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 92.

³⁶¹ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 93.

developed in the closing arguments, which for the most attached to the special situation of vulnerability to the displacement³⁶².

As for the individual aspect of the case, the Commission carefully tangled it with the collective. The Commission explicitly stated that the torture and death of Marino López were inserted in a context of armed conflict that, through Operation Génesis, aggravated the violence and violations of human rights faced by the Afro-descendant communities³⁶³. In this sense, the individual violation could only be understood – and ultimately only existed – because of the broader background pattern of systematic violation of human rights against Afro-descendant communities. The Commission even further claimed that this pattern – in the case constituted by violent operatives causing the death, torture, and disappearance of the communities -, as it was persistent and directed at the same group, amounted to a crime against humanity³⁶⁴.

The petitioners' claims

Within the petitioners' arguments, the race element was distinctively relevant. The background of the situation of Afro-descendants in Colombia was the first element of fact established in the document³⁶⁵. They highlighted that albeit Afro-descendant populations were the second largest ethnic-racial group in Colombia, they have suffered a historical pattern of discrimination, exclusion, and socioeconomic disadvantages³⁶⁶. Inserted in this context, the concerned group descended from the freed slave after 1850, gathered along the Cacarica River and established a communal lifestyle³⁶⁷. This communal lifestyle included the particular role

³⁶² Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, "Alegatos Finales Escritos Presentados Por La Comisión InterAmericana (Caso 12.573)," 25.

³⁶³ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, "Informe de Fondo (No. 64/11, Caso 12.573)," 66.

³⁶⁴ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 67.

³⁶⁵ Giraldo et al., "Escrito de Solicitudes, Argumentos y Pruebas Presentado Por Los Representantes de La Presunta Víctima," 13.

³⁶⁶ Giraldo et al., 14.

³⁶⁷ Giraldo et al., 16.

of women and the care of children³⁶⁸. In this sense, the group was marked by the special, historical, and traditional use of the land and cultural distinctiveness, all of which provided them with the subsistence the community needed³⁶⁹. The attachment to the land and communal living was, therefore, not only a cultural trait but a way out of the marginalization and exclusion faced by Afro-Colombians in the State³⁷⁰.

Despite the attempt to carry out a dignified life in the community, the petitioners pointed out that business activities threatened their ownership of the land and the use therein and used violence, fraud, and unlawful measures to explore the region³⁷¹. According to them, the State was aware of the unlawful takeovers from businesses and tolerated and consented to them³⁷². The petitioners showcased, then, that Afro-descendant populations in Colombia either lived in urban areas under marginalization, poverty, and exclusion from the State or had their livelihood threatened by private actors and the State.

By highlighting those aspects even before the assessment of the facts of the case (the State operations and the displacement), the petitioners covered three questions left unattended by the Commission: i) how and why the racial identity of the group played a role in the evaluation of the responsibility of the State; ii) how the background situation of the group related to the violation of the right to equality and nondiscrimination; iii) how the race element influenced the analysis of the extent of the violation of other rights.

In alignment with the Commission's understanding, the facts of the case related to an aggravated responsibility of the State³⁷³. This aggravated responsibility stemmed from the

³⁶⁸ Giraldo et al., 19.

³⁶⁹ Giraldo et al., 18.

³⁷⁰ Giraldo et al., 18.

³⁷¹ Giraldo et al., 16.

³⁷² Giraldo et al., 23.

³⁷³ Giraldo et al., 111.

knowledge of Colombia of the risks and attacks that the group was already subjected to and the fact that the Afro community was in a situation of vulnerability ³⁷⁴. The novelty of the arguments of the petitioners in relation to the Commission is that the former laid out the racial identity of the group as the benchmark from which both the vulnerability and the content of the rights at hand should be analyzed ³⁷⁵. The petitioners argued that the acts of violence, the armed conflict, and the subsequent forced displacement disproportionately affected the Afrodescendant population because they were forced to leave their ancestral land and therefore abandoned their livelihoods, communal living, values, and social practices, besides having been submitted to precarious living conditions, limited access to social goods, and marginalization ³⁷⁶. In this sense, the State had a special duty to prevent and protect those communities, considering their particular needs and the risks that they had been historically submitted to ³⁷⁷. This entailed special regard for the group's cultural distinctiveness and food, hygiene, and socialization customs ³⁷⁸.

The analysis made by the petitioners also tightened the relation between the background situation of the group, the facts of the case, and the analysis of the violation of the right to equality and nondiscrimination. They argued that the right to equality was closely related to the State's duty to carry on positive obligations to eliminate material inequality³⁷⁹. Based on this understanding, they analyzed the specific circumstances of the case and the underlying context of the violations. Ultimately, they claimed that the violence, intimidation, and displacement were nothing but a materialization of a precedent context that denied the

³⁷⁴ Giraldo et al., 111.

³⁷⁵ Giraldo et al., 101.

³⁷⁶ Giraldo et al., 125.

³⁷⁷ Giraldo et al., 123.

³⁷⁸ Giraldo et al., "Alegatos Finales Escritos Presentados Por Los Representantes," 129.

³⁷⁹ Giraldo et al., "Escrito de Solicitudes, Argumentos y Pruebas Presentado Por Los Representantes de La Presunta Víctima," 140.

community's rights³⁸⁰. Therefore, the circumstances of the case were regarded as a symptom, not the disease. To use the words of the document: "El desplazamiento forzado, se presenta como una de las expresiones de la situación de desventaja en la que se encuentra la población afrodescendiente respecto del resto de la población de país"³⁸¹. The disease was the denial of the community's rights that already placed them in a disadvantageous position to start with³⁸². Sided with the circumstances of the case, the lack of positive actions from the State promoted the violation of the right to equality³⁸³. For that reason, the petitioners demanded more than temporary measures of redress. They required the development of long-term projects of life³⁸⁴. Even further: from this understanding, the petitioners claimed that the violation of rights preceded the facts of the case, being contemporary to the inability of the State to eliminate the ongoing disadvantaged faced by the Afro descendant populations³⁸⁵.

Finally, they addressed how the race element influenced the analysis of the extent of the violation of other rights. Bottom line, they affirmed that "los derechos que encontramos violados por el Estado se deben interpretar en un enfoque diferencial, a partir de la condición de afrodescendientes de las víctimas del presente caso"³⁸⁶. Consequently, besides reserving a singular chapter to analyze the developments of the racial element to the understanding of the right to equality enshrined in Article 24 of the Convention, the petitioners analyzed how the racial identification of the group, language, and cultural practices should be used to evaluate the right to life³⁸⁷, family³⁸⁸, honor³⁸⁹, etc. To illustrate, the petitioners claimed that Afro-

_

³⁸⁰ Giraldo et al., 112.

³⁸¹ Giraldo et al., 153 and 155.

³⁸² Giraldo et al., 155.

³⁸³ Giraldo et al., 154.

³⁸⁴ Giraldo et al., "Alegatos Finales Escritos Presentados Por Los Representantes," 55.

³⁸⁵ Giraldo et al., 129.

³⁸⁶ Giraldo et al., "Escrito de Solicitudes, Argumentos y Pruebas Presentado Por Los Representantes de La Presunta Víctima," 101.

³⁸⁷ Giraldo et al., 124.

³⁸⁸ Giraldo et al., 134.

³⁸⁹ Giraldo et al., 130.

descendant children were particularly affected by the displacement, as the loss of the land was followed by disruption of family stability, full development, and communal bonding³⁹⁰.

The Court's standing

The Court advertised the tone under which the decision would be discussed very early on. When mentioning the assessment of facts, the Court directly delved into the circumstances of the case, mentioning the "Operación Génesis" and the displacement and leaving untouched the claims related to the group identity and the consequences of historical discrimination and marginalization they had been subjected to³⁹¹. The Court qualified the population at hand: it described how they were predominantly Afro-descendants and lacked basic needs³⁹², besides having cited NGO reports pointing to the condition of marginalization, vulnerability, and segregation of the communities³⁹³. But this was as far as the Court was willing to yield to the arguments provided by the petitioners concerning the connection between their racial identity and the violations.

The case was strictly reviewed under the circumstances of the case. The Court focused on the attempt of the paramilitary and other armed groups to take control of the disputed region³⁹⁴, the relation between the violent endeavors of those groups and the displacement³⁹⁵, and the illegal exploitation of the territory after the displacement³⁹⁶ and spent quite a considerable

³⁹⁰ Giraldo et al., 139.

³⁹¹ Caso de Las Comunidades Afrodescendientes Desplazadas de La Cuenca Del Río Cacarica (Operación Génesis) vs. Colombia ((Excepciones Preliminares, Fondo, Reparac iones y Costas) at 29.

³⁹² Caso de Las Comunidades Afrodescendientes Desplazadas de La Cuenca Del Río Cacarica (Operación Génesis) vs. Colombia ((Excepciones Preliminares, Fondo, Reparac iones y Costas) at 31.

³⁹³ Caso de Las Comunidades Afrodescendientes Desplazadas de La Cuenca Del Río Cacarica (Operación Génesis) vs. Colombia ((Excepciones Preliminares, Fondo, Reparac iones y Costas) at 32.

³⁹⁴ Caso de Las Comunidades Afrodescendientes Desplazadas de La Cuenca Del Río Cacarica (Operación Génesis) vs. Colombia ((Excepciones Preliminares, Fondo, Reparac iones y Costas) at 35.

³⁹⁵ Caso de Las Comunidades Afrodescendientes Desplazadas de La Cuenca Del Río Cacarica (Operación Génesis) vs. Colombia ((Excepciones Preliminares, Fondo, Reparac iones y Costas) at 52.

³⁹⁶ Caso de Las Comunidades Afrodescendientes Desplazadas de La Cuenca Del Río Cacarica (Operación Génesis) vs. Colombia ((Excepciones Preliminares, Fondo, Reparac iones y Costas) at 57.

amount of the decision assessing the proofs and sorting out controversies of facts ³⁹⁷. Particularly, the Court concluded that no evidence supported the claim that the bombing carried out in "Operación Génesis" targeted the civilian population and therefore stated that the State was not responsible for violations of articles 4 and 5 of the Convention³⁹⁸.

On the other hand, the Court established that the case provided proof that State agents, especially army members, collaborated with the armed groups in the region, facilitating a context of omission and coordination between them³⁹⁹. From this context of collaboration alone, the Court drew its conclusions concerning the majority of the allegations of the case, namely the right to life and personal integrity in relation to Marino López (articles 4.1, 5.1, and 5.2 of the Convention in relation with article 1.1 of the same instrument) and the right to life, personal integrity, and circulation and residency (which incubated the right not to be forced displaced) concerning the communities⁴⁰⁰.

Ultimately, the Court considered that the forced displaced were directly related to the actions of the paramilitary groups in the context of "Operación Cacarica". As it was proved that State agents collaborated with the group and that the operation could not have happened without this coordination, the Court established the State's responsibility under international law⁴⁰¹. By adopting this interpretation, the Court reviewed the situation through the same lens as other displacements in other areas of Colombia⁴⁰². It, therefore, refused the theory of a singularity

³⁹⁷ Caso de Las Comunidades Afrodescendientes Desplazadas de La Cuenca Del Río Cacarica (Operación Génesis) vs. Colombia ((Excepciones Preliminares, Fondo, Reparac iones y Costas) at 89.

³⁹⁸ Caso de Las Comunidades Afrodescendientes Desplazadas de La Cuenca Del Río Cacarica (Operación Génesis)

vs. Colombia ((Excepciones Preliminares, Fondo, Reparac iones y Costas) at 90.

³⁹⁹ Caso de Las Comunidades Afrodescendientes Desplazadas de La Cuenca Del Río Cacarica (Operación Génesis) vs. Colombia ((Excepciones Preliminares, Fondo, Reparac iones y Costas) at 95.

⁴⁰⁰ Caso de Las Comunidades Afrodescendientes Desplazadas de La Cuenca Del Río Cacarica (Operación Génesis) vs. Colombia ((Excepciones Preliminares, Fondo, Reparac iones y Costas) at 106.

⁴⁰¹ Caso de Las Comunidades Afrodescendientes Desplazadas de La Cuenca Del Río Cacarica (Operación Génesis) vs. Colombia ((Excepciones Preliminares, Fondo, Reparac iones y Costas) at 106.

⁴⁰² Caso de Las Comunidades Afrodescendientes Desplazadas de La Cuenca Del Río Cacarica (Operación Génesis)vs. Colombia ((Excepciones Preliminares, Fondo, Reparac iones y Costas) at 105.

of the case. If the case situation were, bottom line, attributed to the private actors and could have happened with other groups, nothing about the context of Afro-descendant populations stood out as needing special regard.

For that reason, the analysis conducted by the Court was way less developed than the one presented by the Commission or the petitioners. For example, the Court only mentioned the vulnerability stemming from the displacement, besides pointing out how the forced displacement disproportionately impacted rural populations, women, and children⁴⁰³. It did not mention the vulnerability under the lens of the population itself and how the context of previous marginalization and discrimination contributed to the special needs the group required. Moreover, in opposition to the petitioner's claims, the Court was hesitant to recognize the communal lifestyle of the Afro-descendant population in Cacarica and their consequent cultural distinctiveness⁴⁰⁴. Therefore, the Court measured the States actions during the displacement according to general minimum standards⁴⁰⁵instead of the specific needs of the community; it also considered that there was not enough information on the communal lifestyle of the Afro-descendant populations in Cacarica. to assess possible violations to the right to family⁴⁰⁶; and did not cite any of the specificities brought up by the petitioners concerning the relation between the right to children to develop, the project of life and connection with the communal lifestyle of the group when regarding the violation of children's rights in the case⁴⁰⁷.

712

 $^{^{403}}$ Caso de Las Comunidades Afrodescendientes Desplazadas de La Cuenca Del Río Cacarica (Operación Génesis)

vs. Colombia ((Excepciones Preliminares, Fondo, Reparac iones y Costas) at 112. 404 Caso de Las Comunidades Afrodescendientes Desplazadas de La Cuenca Del Río Cacarica (Operación Génesis)

vs. Colombia ((Excepciones Preliminares, Fondo, Reparac iones y Costas) at 115.

405 Caso de Las Comunidades Afrodescendientes Desplazadas de La Cuenca Del Río Cacarica (Operación Génesis) vs. Colombia ((Excepciones Preliminares, Fondo, Reparac iones y Costas) at 115.

⁴⁰⁶ Caso de Las Comunidades Afrodescendientes Desplazadas de La Cuenca Del Río Cacarica (Operación Génesis) vs. Colombia ((Excepciones Preliminares, Fondo, Reparac iones y Costas) at 115.

⁴⁰⁷ Caso de Las Comunidades Afrodescendientes Desplazadas de La Cuenca Del Río Cacarica (Operación Génesis) vs. Colombia ((Excepciones Preliminares, Fondo, Reparac iones y Costas) at 116.

The Court adopted a strict interpretation of the right to equality and nondiscrimination. It signalized that Article 1.1 pertains to the general obligation of the State to respect and guarantee the enjoyment of the rights of the Convention without discrimination, while Article 24 protects the right of equality before the law⁴⁰⁸. Based on that, the Court dismissed the claims of violation of articles 1.1, 11.2, 17, and 24 of the Convention, arguing that the petitioners did not point out which internal norms or applications of the norm were contrary to the convention⁴⁰⁹. In addition, the decision held that:

En segundo término, el Tribunal nota que otros alegatos referidos a la obligación de garantizar los derechos sin discriminación también fueron presentados con relación a la falta de atención diferenciada para los desplazados por su condición de mayor vulnerabilidad. Al respecto, la Corte toma nota que ni la Comisión ni los representantes han presentado alegatos e información específica que permitan analizar esas presuntas violaciones a la luz de las disposiciones de la Convención Americana 410.

Under a similar strict interpretation, the Court found that the State violated the right to property of the communities by simply assessing that the territory had been assigned by national law to the community and the properties therein were destructed at the same time as that the land was exploited without permission, which amounted to the violation⁴¹¹. The Court did not place any special regard on the connection that the communities had with the land or how the loss of the land impacted their vulnerability as Afro-descendant populations.

Conclusion

In "Comunidades afrodescendientes desplazadas de la Cuenca del Río Cacarica", the petitioners and the Commission adopted a specific approach towards structural racism. They

⁴⁰⁸ Caso de Las Comunidades Afrodescendientes Desplazadas de La Cuenca Del Río Cacarica (Operación Génesis) vs. Colombia ((Excepciones Preliminares, Fondo, Reparac iones y Costas) at 117.

⁴⁰⁹ Caso de Las Comunidades Afrodescendientes Desplazadas de La Cuenca Del Río Cacarica (Operación Génesis) vs. Colombia ((Excepciones Preliminares, Fondo, Reparac iones y Costas) at 117.

⁴¹⁰ Caso de Las Comunidades Afrodescendientes Desplazadas de La Cuenca Del Río Cacarica (Operación Génesis) vs. Colombia ((Excepciones Preliminares, Fondo, Reparac iones y Costas) at 118.

⁴¹¹ Caso de Las Comunidades Afrodescendientes Desplazadas de La Cuenca Del Río Cacarica (Operación Génesis) vs. Colombia ((Excepciones Preliminares, Fondo, Reparac iones y Costas) at 122.

both recognized the Afro-descendant populations living along the Cacarica River as one with cultural distinctiveness, traditional practices, and entitlement to collective property. To an extent, the Commission agreed with the petitioners that Afro-Colombians were victims of structural racism in the country, as the Commission specifically stated that the group was a victim of systemic, official, and nonofficial discrimination⁴¹². Moreover, the Commission was also aligned with the petitioners regarding the link between the individual aspect of the case, related to the death of Marino López, and the broader background pattern of systematic violation of human rights against Afro-descendant communities that were victims of systemic, official, and nonofficial discrimination. Moreover, the Commission was also aligned with the petitioners with the link between the case's individual aspect, related to Marino López's death, and the broader background pattern of systematic violation of human rights against Afro-descendant communities that were victims of systemic with the broader background pattern of systematic violation of human rights against Afro-descendant communities that were victims of systemic with the broader background pattern of systematic violation of human rights against Afro-descendant communities that were victims of systemic violation of human rights against Afro-descendant communities that were victims of systemic violation of human rights against Afro-

Their difference lay in how deeply they were willing to connect structural racism to the State's responsibility in the case. While the Commission was more modest, arguing that the community was under a special situation of vulnerability that created an aggravated responsibility from the State⁴¹⁴, the petitioners claimed that racial identity played a fundamental role in the analysis of the content of the rights. In this sense, the latter not only claimed that the State had a special duty to prevent and protect the group, considering their particular needs and the risks that they had been historically subjected to⁴¹⁵, but also that the violence and the displacement were consequences of a precedent context of denial of rights. In this sense, their requirements exceeded temporary measures and touched upon long-lasting positive measures

⁴¹² Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, "Informe de Fondo (No. 64/11, Caso 12.573)," 25.

⁴¹⁴ Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, "Informe de Fondo (No. 64/11, Caso 12.573)," 74.

⁴¹⁵ Giraldo et al., "Escrito de Solicitudes, Argumentos y Pruebas Presentado Por Los Representantes de La Presunta Víctima," 123.

to reverse inequality⁴¹⁶. Moreover, they included racial awareness in the analysis of the obligations of the State concerning the right to life, family, honor, protection of children, etc. The statement was that marginalization (structural racism) intrinsically preceded the violation; the latter would not exist without the former. Therefore, all the rights under the scrutiny of the Court should consider the marginalization when evaluating the State's responsibility on the matter and connect structural racism to the State's responsibility in the case.

The Court went in an entirely different direction. It did not abide by the Commission's claim that the communities were under special vulnerability given their race identification and did not fully recognize the cultural distinctiveness of the group. Moreover, it did not recognize any violation of the right to equality.

Given that, in Colombia, structural racism manifests in the difficulties in effectively implementing targeted public policies for African-descendant populations based on the intersections between race and ethnicity and the struggles faced by those populations concerning armed conflict and dispossession, the decision of the Court presented itself as a refusal to advance the culture of human rights in that regard, refraining from assisting black movements from enjoying their rights.

This is even more worrying considering the influence of the Court on Colombia's behavior, from the government to judicial practice. For example, the Colombian Constitutional Court often uses the interpretation of the Inter-American Court to review national laws and practices⁴¹⁷. Colombia was cited as an example of a constitutional order in which the Inter-American's authority shapes state behavior, law, and politics outside the individual level⁴¹⁸. Especially in this context, according to Huneeus (2016), "the judgments of the IACtHR are not

⁴¹⁶ Giraldo et al., "Alegatos Finales Escritos Presentados Por Los Representantes," 55.

⁴¹⁷ Huneeus, "Constitutional Lawyers and the Inter-American Court's Varied Authority," 179.

⁴¹⁸ Huneeus, 181.

only a tool pushing for state compliance on the international plane following a judgment; they are also a tool for challenging laws and practices before the domestic judiciary."⁴¹⁹ At the same token, scholarship has been calling attention to the transnational impact of the Court's jurisprudence: the order from the Court has a regional impact, reaching not only the case under judicial review but other cases and States⁴²⁰.

When the Court ruled out most of the petitioners' claims concerning reparations, providing monetary reparations below the standard offered in similar cases ⁴²¹, the Court denied the community recognition, compensation, and aid within the international human rights law in their quest for racial justice. And more: The Court directly contradicted the ongoing dialogue between afro Colombian social movements and the Inter-American Commission of Human Rights. For years, they had strategically used the human rights language as a tool to promote the right to life, visibility, the elimination of structural racism, and the right to define their development proposal ⁴²². By ignoring those developments, the Court aligned with the State's historical position of denying recognition and thus maintaining systemic poverty and racism as it stands ⁴²³, and moved backward from several of its objective for the region, such as serving as catapults for civil society to foster dialogue with the government and denounce violations of human rights, or combat social exclusion.

This can negatively impact the development of international judicial decisions on behalf of the community, as well as national laws and public policies sensitive to the group's struggles. By denying the singularity of the case, the Court allowed state organs to do the same.

⁴¹⁹ Huneeus, 187.

⁴²⁰ Ventura-Robles, "EL CONTROL DE CONVENCIONALIDAD Y EL IMPACTO DE LAS REPARACIONES EMITIDAS POR LA CORTE INTERAMERICANA DE DERECHOS HUMANOS," 208.

⁴²¹ Niño, Salazar, and Rodríguez, "El impacto del control de convencionalidad en la jurisprudencia del Consejo de Estado colombiano en la reparación a víctimas de graves violaciones a derechos humanos," 171.

⁴²² Bonilla, "Racismo y Derechos Humanos En Colombia - Racismo e Direitos Humanos Na Colômbia," 92.

⁴²³ Bonilla, 93.

COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS OF THE CASES INVOLVING ARGENTINA, BRAZIL AND COLOMBIA

The evaluation of the cases related to structural racism against African-Descendant populations points to a discrepancy between the Inter-American Court project for Latin America (to consolidate international jurisprudence, push for structural changes and promote an *ius commune* in the region, and develop public policies that incorporate human rights) and the performance of the Court in the cases themselves.

Even in the small sampling presented in the research, there was no consistency in the approach adopted by the Court, refraining from the construction of solid jurisprudence. Moreover, the Court was hesitant to recognize structural racism as such, although they recognized structural poverty.

To evaluate the repercussions of those inconsistencies, I will draw from McCarty et al. 1 (2023) research on structural racism. Although their research focused on the psychologist's practices toward combatting structural racism, the three-way approach they developed is also useful for this study. They systematized reckoning structural racism through i) developing structural thinking, defined as the ability to attribute structural causes to group inequities⁴²⁴; ii) promoting upstream change to prevent racial inequality, protect vulnerable groups, and promote racial equity⁴²⁵; and iii) promoting redress interventions, be it race-based or class-based⁴²⁶. In this sense, it is possible to say that the Court overall did not conceptualize structural racism in a way that reckons the phenomenon effectively. In the Argentinian case, none of the steps were followed – the Court recognized a structural cause underlying the facts of the case but

⁴²⁴ McCarty et al., "Toward a Moral Reckoning on Structural Racism," 37.

⁴²⁵ McCarty et al., 38.

⁴²⁶ McCarty et al., 38.

ultimately attributed the violation to the flawed legislation. By the same token, in the Colombian case, the Court considered that the structural factor was not proved; thus, it was not recognized. Lastly, in the Brazilian cases, the Court did attribute structural thinking and redress interventions to the facts, but that was partial, as the Court recognized structural poverty but not structural racism.

Furthermore, the extent of the inconsistency makes it impossible to draw temporal conclusions related to the cases. It would be unwise to contrast the Colombian case, judged in November 2013, where the Court did not recognize structural racism despite the petitioners' and the Commission's use of that language, to the Argentinian case, judged in August 2020, in which the Court specifically used the language. First of all, in the Argentinian case of 2020, the State expressly recognized the existence of structural racism in the country – as the Court did not attribute any legal consequence to the phenomena, it is impossible to conclude whether the recognition of structural racism as such derived from the evolution of the Court's understanding or simply a mirror of the State's recognition. This is especially relevant considering that even in the most progressive Brazilian case ("Empregados da Fábrica de Fogos de Santo Antônio de Jesus"), the Court used the terminology "structural discrimination" rather than "structural racism."

On the other hand, between the three Brazilian cases, the inconsistencies are broader. While the temporal distance between the first ("Trabalhadores da Fazenda Brasil Verde") and second case ("Favela Nova Brasília") is of only one year, the Court developed a jurisprudence of recognition of structural poverty and structural discrimination in the first case but did not acknowledge the implication of those phenomena in the second. Still, in the third case ("Empregados da Fábrica de Fogos de Santo Antônio de Jesus"), the rationale behind the first case was reused by the Court to draw further conclusions on the matter. Admittedly, the

petitioners in the third case explicitly used the terminology structural racism and structured the legal framing and State's responsibility in more progressive terms than in the second case. However, the temporal aspect alone is insufficient to draw conclusions on the Court's developments. First, seven years before the Brazilian case ("Empregados da Fábrica de Fogos de Santo Antônio de Jesus"), the petitioners in the Colombian case had already used advanced language and legal strategies to frame structural racism; this alone did not guarantee the Court's abiding of the petitioners' approach. Moroever, in the second Brazilian case, the Court did not fully adhere to the petitioners' claim where structural racism was concerned.

In this sense, the cases do not possess a temporal linearity that allows for any promising conclusion. On the contrary, as the cases were so inconsistent, it is possible to affirm that the Court deviated from its ongoing objectives for the region: it did not set standards on the matter nor promoted an *ius commune* (at least not one beneficial for vulnerable groups) or developed public policies that incorporate human rights. The quest against inequality and social inclusion, where Afro-descendants are concerned, seems stuck in the Court's agenda.

Closing remarks

Evaluation of the Court's jurisprudence on structural racism

When a case reveals the necessity to analyze the facts under the lens of structural racism, many elements of the decision must change. Stemming from the analysis of Paola Quiñones (2014) on decisions regarding structural discrimination, it is possible to name at least three relevant modifications: a) the Court needs to adopt a sound definition of structural discrimination based

on specific standards⁴²⁷; ii) the burden of proof changes, to accommodate the challenges of identifying such a complex phenomenon 428; c) the decision must reinterpret principle of equality and therefore articles 1.1 and 24 of the Convention⁴²⁹.

In the brief comparative analysis, Paola Quiñones (2014) declared that the Court still needed to adopt a definition of structural discrimination 430. The author indeed had an optimistic undertone in her analysis, but overall showcased context in which structural discrimination was present, but regarded as systematic practices of human rights violations⁴³¹, only dealt with briefly in the reparations sector⁴³², or the concept was underdeveloped⁴³³.

The cases analyzed in this research followed the same shallowness. The Court either straightup refused to address structural racism based on traditional analysis of the burden of proof, as in the Colombian case or recognized the existence of structural racism – at broader or lesser levels – but refrained from developing the legal consequences of this recognition, as in the Argentinian and the Brazilian cases. Concerning the latter, it is important to highlight that in both "Empregados da Fábrica de Fogos de Santo Antônio de Jesus V. Brasil" and "Trabalhadores da Fazenda Brasil Verde" the Court emphasized class relations way more than race imbalances in the construction of innovate legal consequences toward structural discrimination. Considering the Court's hesitancy to build up the same forwardness of the Brazilian jurisprudence into the Colombian's, where the petitioners and the Commission highlighted race over other situations of *de facto* discrimination, it is unwise to conclude that

⁴²⁷ Pelletier Quiñones, "La 'discriminación estructural' en la evolución jurisprudencial de la Corte Interamericana de Derechos Humanos," 215.

⁴²⁸ Pelletier Ouiñones, 212.

⁴²⁹ Pelletier Ouiñones, 205.

⁴³⁰ Pelletier Quiñones, 215.

⁴³¹ Pelletier Quiñones, 214.

⁴³² Pelletier Ouiñones, 209.

⁴³³ Pelletier Quiñones, 211.

the same construction developed to tackle structural poverty would be used by the Court to address structural racism.

Another relevant aspect of the analyzed cases was the plurality of approaches the Court adopted toward the reinterpretation of the principle of equality and, therefore, articles 1.1 and 24 of the Convention. The most extreme cases were the Colombian case, in which the Court did not recognize the structural racism faced by the Afro-descendant populations and dismissed the claims of violation of articles 1.1 and 24 of the Convention. Following that, the Court didn't develop jurisprudence on the connection between articles 1.1 and 24 and structural racism in the Brazilian case "Favela Nova Brasilia", where there wasn't any mention of the principles of equality and nondiscrimination.

On the other side of the spectrum, the Argentinian case sowed articles 1.1 and 24 into the broader context of structural racism, although doing so in a way that attached them to the analysis of articles 7.2 and 7.3. As discussed before, by stating that "the broadness of the provisions regulating police authority to detain people for committing offenses enabled the use of racial profiling and detentions based on discriminatory practices, for which reason the detention was also arbitrary and discriminatory" while recognizing the context of structural racism in Argentina, the Court confined the discussions toward equality and discrimination to the enactment alone, and thus attributed to the articles a formal understanding: the articles are violated when a substantive right is violated based in a discriminatory motive.

In two of the Brazilian cases ("Trabalhadores da Fazenda Brasil Verde" and "Empregados da Fábrica de Fogos de Santo Antônio de Jesus"), the understanding of the articles was more expansive. The court recognized three reverberations of obligations stemming from the articles:

a) when discrimination is found in the guarantee of a given right established in the convention;

⁴³⁴ Caso Acosta Martínez y Otros Vs. Argentina (Fondo, Reparaciones y Costas) at 32.

b) when discrimination is manifested in unequal protection of internal law or its application; c) when the discrimination is the basis for the disrespect of the general obligation of the State to respect and guarantee human rights. The last reverberation is derived from the obligations of Article 1.1 of the Convention. However, within the analysis of Article 24, the Court acknowledged the State's responsibility towards structural racism. According to the Court, Article 24 of the Convention demands the construction of material equality and thus implies the correction of existing inequalities and the promotion of the inclusion and participation of historically marginalized groups. If a State fails to do so, then it violates both Article 24 (because it didn't conform to its obligations) and Article 1.1.

The reason behind adopting multiple interpretations of the same articles following the recognition of the same phenomenon in the Argentinian and Brazilian cases is unclear. One possibility could be that, in the Argentinian case, neither the petitioners nor the Commission offered such an interpretation to the Court, although that does not represent a full impediment to that construction. Considering that Colombian case and the fact that, in both Brazilian cases, the Court leaned more towards the analysis of structural poverty than structural racism, it is more reasonable to theorize that the Court is more hesitant to touch upon strictly racial arguments. In the Colombian case, as the victims were Afro-descendant populations, there was no way around the issue – the Court chose to dodge it. In the Brazilian cases, the Court used the concepts of intersectionality and structural poverty to address the matter, but not completely.

Despite this hesitancy, it is reasonable to affirm that, following the researched case studies, structural racism demands from the Court a two-fold interpretation: the first that recognize independent breaches of articles 1.1 and 24, as implemented in the Brazilian cases; and the second that relates those articles to substantive rights. This multi-sided model better reflects

the changes in the analysis of responsibility, response, and remedy required by the understanding of structural racism⁴³⁵. Through this method, the Court can simultaneously address, for example, how structural racism conveys both independent effects and interactions among multiple forms of racism and thus how efforts to dismantle racial inequality must be coordinated and complex⁴³⁶.

Moving Forward: opportunities in a bridge between the forced disappearance model and structural racism

As pointed out above, only recently – and rarely – the Court developed a broader understanding of structural discrimination in relation to articles 1.1 and 24 of the Convention, and even this understanding lacks specific recognition for structural racism against African Descendants. Overall, three trends concern the latter: a) the Court recognizes structural racism as an underlying phenomenon to the violation at hand, therefore stating that a substantive right was violated in connection with articles 1.1 and 24 – this model was used in the Argentinian case; b) the Court does not recognize structural racism or deem it as devoid of legal consequence, as in the Brazilian case "Favela Nova Brasilia" and the Colombian case; c) the Court recognizes structural discrimination, giving independent effects to articles 1.1 and 24, as the other two Brazilian cases.

Although the last development may seem major if compared to the previous options, it can be considered insufficient if compared to the general jurisprudence of the Court, particularly in regard to forced disappearances⁴³⁷. While structural racism against African-descendant and

-

⁴³⁵ Powell, "Structural Racism," 809.

⁴³⁶ Gee and Ford, "STRUCTURAL RACISM AND HEALTH INEQUITIES," 128.

⁴³⁷ Forced disappearance is defined by the Inter-American Convention of Enforced Disappearances as "the act of depriving a person or persons of his or their freedom, in whatever way, perpetrated by agents of the state or by persons or groups of persons acting with the authorization, support, or acquiescence of the state, followed by an absence of information or a refusal to acknowledge that deprivation of freedom or to give information on the whereabouts of that person, thereby impeding his or her recourse to the applicable legal remedies and procedural guarantees." See: "INTER-AMERICAN CONVENTION ON FORCED DISAPPEARANCE OF PERSONS."

forced disappearances are strongly different phenomena, they also have unquestionable similarities: i) they have marked the history of most Latin American jurisdictions, particularly the three under study in this research; ii) they have long-lasting consequences to the States and the enjoyment of human rights; iii) they demand from the Court new approaches to the international law of human rights. However, while forced disappearance has been developed in the Inter-American Court jurisprudence to the point of being recognized as an independent phenomenon with specific legal consequences⁴³⁸, structural racism hasn't been given the same attention. A parallel between them – where applicable – might shift the discrepancy between them.

The Court repeatedly held that forced disappearances convey multiple violations and therefore cause – and reflects in – multiple and continuous violations of numerous rights recognized in the Convention⁴³⁹. In this sense, in those cases, there is a combination of injury to personal freedom and other rights, in connection and independently⁴⁴⁰ This is important because the Court regards that once recognized, a forced disappearance rejects isolated, divided, and fragmented examination of the case⁴⁴¹. Secondly, the Court established criteria for recognizing forced disappearances, i.e., elements of the phenomenon⁴⁴². Thirdly, the demonstration of patterns is relevant to the construction of the case, from the making of a prima facie case to the burden of proof⁴⁴³ and the interpretation of rights, which often take a rather innovative approach ⁴⁴⁴. And lastly, the Court independently asserted forced disappearance as an

-

⁴³⁸ Claude, "A Comparative Approach to Enforced Disappearances in the Inter-American Court of Human Rights and the European Court of Human Rights Jurisprudence," 429.

⁴³⁹ González, "The Crime of Forced Disappearance of Persons According to the Decisions of the Inter-American Court of Human Rights," 480.

⁴⁴⁰ González, 481.

⁴⁴¹ Claude, "A Comparative Approach to Enforced Disappearances in the Inter-American Court of Human Rights and the European Court of Human Rights Jurisprudence," 430.

⁴⁴² Claude, 422.

⁴⁴³ Claude, 422.

⁴⁴⁴ Claude, 430.

autonomous right, although the Inter-American Convention on Forced Disappearance of Persons does not⁴⁴⁵.

Those elements can be translated into the case law studied in this research. The global understanding of forced disappearance as demanding a specific examination of the case and entitling multiple violations of human rights would be useful in the Argentinian case to prevent the underdevelopment of articles 1.1 and 24 of the Convention in relation to structural racism and improve the approach to the connection between substantive rights and the aforementioned articles. In this sense, the Court would be able to recognize that structural racism is a complex phenomenon that entails continuous and multiple violations of human rights instead of confining this recognition to analysis of the legality of the law and the conformity with articles 7.1 and 7.2.

The criteria for establishing structural racism in the same structure as the one developed in forced disappearance would prevent the disregard of structural racism as such and the legal consequences that follow, and therefore assist the Brazilian "Favela Nova Brasilia" and the Colombian cases.

Finally, the approach towards patterns to the construction of the case, the will to adopt an innovative interpretation of rights, and the recognition of autonomous rights regardless of the text of the Convention would be valuable to the other Brazilian cases. Those changes would force the Court to regard structural racism as both an autonomous violation (and, by default, of equality as an autonomous right) under articles 1.1 and 24 and underlying factors influencing the enjoyment of other substantive rights. This path would not be completely new, as it is close to the one the Court adhered to in "Empregados da Fábrica de Fogos de Santo Antônio de

Jesus V. Brasil", when the decision asserted that the State's liability pertained to various substantive rights in relation to discrimination, as well as conveyed an independent violation of the rights to nondiscrimination 446 .

Through that, the Court would be able to tackle structural racism completely: as the cause of the violation, as the violation, and as an explanation of the consequences of the violation.

⁴⁴⁶ Pou Giménez, "La Igualdad Sustantiva Interamericana," 1244.

CONCLUSION

The research uncovered how the legal framework in Latin America had endorsed the racial stratification that feeds a system of structural racism. While strong peculiarities marked the experiences in Argentina, Brazil, and Colombia, they were similar in the pervasiveness of racism and social exclusion endured by African descendants.

In that sense, the Inter-American Court of Human Rights could have played an important role in the quest for equality in the region. Not only the Court confronted the agenda of combatting inequality and social exclusion, but it also embraced conceptualizations of vulnerability and substantive equality in relation to Articles 1.1 and 24 of the American Convention that could have advanced the main racial struggles of the studied countries: for Argentina, recognition; for Brazil, development of public policies under the govern of substantive equality and for Colombia, the development of group-based protection along the intersections of race and ethnicity.

However, the analysis of the case law demonstrated that the Court hasn't yet conceptualized structural racism in a way that reckon the phenomenon effectively. Among the main concerns is the lack of consistency in the approach adopted by the Court concerning the same phenomenon, and the absence of a definite recognition of structural racism as such, even when structural discrimination is acknowledged. It is, however, worth noting that, in the case law studied, the chosen approach adopted by the Court to the issue follows, to some extent, the methodological patterns presented by the petitioners and the Commission. While the Court adopted some variations – for better or for worse – in the conceptualization of structural racism, the approach to the issue in the Argentinian and the Brazilian cases mirrored the steps of the petitioners or the Commission. In this sense, there is a clue of a connection between the

arguments presented by the petitioners and the Commission and the Court's decision outcome that can be explored in further research.

Similarly, the Court hesitates to develop the conceptualization of structural racism against Afro-descendant populations within the substantive equality framework when the arguments are presented focusing on the racial aspect. This disparity is evident in the Colombian case, where both the petitioners and the Commission highlighted the influence of structural racism in the alleged violations (the Court dismissed the claims), and in the Brazilian case "Empregados da Fábrica de Fogos de Santo Antônio de Jesus", where the petitioner's claim regarding structural racism was subsumed – and shrank - within the broader concept of structural discrimination. The pattern opposes the one adopted by the Court toward indigenous rights and the associated principles, considered progressive 447. In those cases, the Court is comfortable with recognizing ownership of communal land – including through innovative interpretation of the right to property -and the right to celebrate a particular culture and traditions, elements usually linked with components of ethnicity 448.

To put it simply: the Court is developing a posture that links the right to property and cultural distinctiveness to grant indigenous populations their rights⁴⁴⁹ while demonstrating hesitancy to cover arguments based on racial distinctions and the connected violations. This is yet another topic that requires further research to uncover the reasons behind the hesitancy – and the extent of the link between it and the lack of Afro-descendant judges in the Court's composition.

Be it as it may, this level of underdevelopment on racial issues related to Afro-Descendant populations is astonishing. First, at least 120 million of the region's 500 million population are

_

⁴⁴⁷ Pasqualucci, "The Evolution of International Indigenous Rights in the Inter-American Human Rights System," 284

⁴⁴⁸ Pasqualucci, 287; Hooker, "Indigenous Inclusion/Black Exclusion," 288.

⁴⁴⁹ Antkowiak, "Rights, Resources, and Rhetoric," 160.

Afro-Descendant, and most of this total faces inequality and social exclusion. The fact that this reality hasn't prompted a more consistent approach by the Court is at least worrying. Second, the Court already has a specific model that could help improve litigation concerning structural racism against Afro-Descendants: the one adopted in cases of forced disappearances.

As this research demonstrated, in the forced disappearances model, the Court conveys multiple human rights violations (individually and collectively), establishes criteria for the phenomenon, and adopts specific patterns of acceptance of the case, the burden of proof, and interpretation of rights. Each one of those elements could have been useful in the case law studied in this research. In the Argentinian case, the global understanding of forced disappearance as demanding a specific examination of the case and entitling multiple human rights violations would have recognized structural discrimination as a complex phenomenon requiring a specific understanding of articles 1.1 and 24 of the Convention. Likewise, the same close examination of the case would have prevented the disregard of structural racism as such and the legal consequences that followed in the Brazilian "Favela Nova Brasilia" and the Colombian cases. Finally, the innovative interpretation of rights would have assisted the other two Brazilian cases insofar as it would have allowed the Court to regard structural racism as both an autonomous violation (and, by default, of equality as an autonomous right) under articles 1.1 and 24, and underlying factors influencing the enjoyment of other substantive rights. This approach allows the Court to address numerous issues at once, such as how structural racism has both independent impacts and relationships with other forms of racism and how complex and coordinated measures are needed to reduce racial disparity.

Bottom line, the jurisprudence of the Court concerning structural racism against Afro-Descendants is more filled with "could have been" than with concrete legal developments to the recognition and addressing of the phenomenon. While the most important International Human Rights Court of the Americas continues to avoid the topic, the region's legal framework – including the human rights language - will remain more sided with the system of structural racism than it is with the quest for racial equality. In this sense, Afro-Descendant communities will need to resist despite the Court instead of resisting in tandem with the Court.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Abramovich, Víctor. "From Massive Violations to Structural Patterns: New Approaches And Classic Tensions in the Inter-American Human Rights System." SSRN Scholarly Paper. Rochester, NY, September 1, 2009. https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract=1706715.
- Almeida, Silvio, and Djamila Ribeiro. *Racismo estrutural*. Feminismos plurais. São Paulo: Sueli Carneiro: Pólen, 2019.
- Antkowiak, Thomas M. "Rights, Resources, and Rhetoric: Indigenous Peoples and the Inter-American Court." *University of Pennsylvania Journal of International Law* 35, no. 1 (2014 2013): 113–88.
- Arocha, Jaime. "Inclusion of Afro-Colombians: Unreachable National Goal?" *Latin American Perspectives* 25, no. 3 (May 1, 1998): 70–89. https://doi.org/10.1177/0094582X9802500304.
- Bailey, Stanley R. "The Race Construct and Public Opinion: Understanding Brazilian Beliefs about Racial Inequality and Their Determinants." *American Journal of Sociology* 108, no. 2 (September 2002): 406–39. https://doi.org/10.1086/344812.
- Bonilla, Adriana Espinosa. "Racismo y Derechos Humanos En Colombia Racismo e Direitos Humanos Na Colômbia: Avatares de Las Poblaciones Afrocolombianas." *Revista NuestrAmérica* 3, no. 6 (2015): 81–96.
- Bonilla-Silva, Eduardo. "Rethinking Racism: Toward a Structural Interpretation." *American Sociological Review* 62, no. 3 (1997): 465–80. https://doi.org/10.2307/2657316.
- ——. "What Makes Systemic Racism Systemic?" *Sociological Inquiry* 91, no. 3 (2021): 513–33. https://doi.org/10.1111/soin.12420.
- Caicedo Camacho, Natalia. "El alcance de la vulnerabilidad en la jurisprudencia de la Corte Interamericana de Derechos Humanos: apertura de nuevas líneas de interpretación." In *Migraciones y vulnerabilidad: alcance y protección, 2021, ISBN 9788413251387, págs. 77-98*, 77–98. Servicio de Publicaciones = Argitalpen Zerbitzua, 2021. https://dialnet.unirioja.es/servlet/articulo?codigo=8312063.
- Caribe, Comisión Económica para América Latina y el. *Pueblos indígenas y afrodescendientes de América Latina y el Caribe: información sociodemográfica para políticas y programas*. CEPAL, 2006. https://www.cepal.org/es/publicaciones/4010-pueblos-indigenas-afrodescendientes-america-latina-caribe-informacion.
- . Situación de las personas afrodescendientes en América Latina y desafíos de políticas para la garantía de sus derechos. CEPAL, 2017. https://www.cepal.org/es/publicaciones/42654-situacion-personas-afrodescendientes-america-latina-desafios-politicas-la.
- Carneiro, Sueli. *Racismo, sexismo e desigualdade no Brasil*. 1ª edição. São Paulo: Selo Negro Edições, 2011.
- Caso Acosta Martínez y Otros Vs. Argentina (Fondo, Reparaciones y Costas), No. Série C, 410 (Inter American Court of Human Rights August 31, 2020).
- Caso de Las Comunidades Afrodescendientes Desplazadas de La Cuenca Del Río Cacarica (Operación Génesis) vs. Colombia ((Excepciones Preliminares, Fondo, Reparac iones y Costas), No. Serie C, 270 (Inter American Court of Human Rights November 20, 2013).
- Caso Empleados de La Fábrica de Fuegos en Santo Antônio de Jesus Y sus familiares Vs Brasil (Interpretación de la Sentencia de Excepciones Preliminares, Fondo, Reparaciones y Costas), No. serie c, 427 (Inter American Court of Human Rights June 21, 2021).
- Caso Favela Nova Brasília Vs. Brasil (Exceções Preliminares, Mérito, Reparações e Custas), No. serie c, 333 (Inter American Court of Human Rights February 16, 2017).

- Caso Trabalhadores da Fazenda Brasil Verde Vs. Brasil (Exceções Prelim inares, Mérito, Reparações e Custas), No. serie c, 318 (Inter American Court of Human Rights October 20, 2016).
- Claude, Ophelia. "A Comparative Approach to Enforced Disappearances in the Inter-American Court of Human Rights and the European Court of Human Rights Jurisprudence." *Intercultural Human Rights Law Review* 5 (2010): 407–62.
- Clérico, Laura, and Martín Aldao. "Nuevas Miradas de La Igualdad En La Jurisprudencia de La Corte Interamericana de Derechos Humanos: La Igualdad Como Redistribución y Como Reconocimiento." *Revista Lecciones y Ensayos* 89 (December 1, 2011): 141–79.
- Comissão Pastoral da Terra (CPT), and Centro pela Justiça e o Direito Internacional (CEJIL). "Alegatos Finales Escritos Presentados Por Los Representantes," June 28, 2016. https://www.corteidh.or.cr/docs/casos/trab_hacienda_brasil_verde_br/alefrep.pdf.
- ——. "Escrito de Solicitudes, Argumentos y Pruebas Presentado Por Los Representantes de Las Presuntas Víctimas (Caso 12.066)," June 17, 2015. https://www.corteidh.or.cr/docs/casos/trab_hacienda_brasil_verde_br/esap.pdf.
- Contesse, Jorge. "The International Authority of the Inter-American Court of Human Rights: A Critique of the Conventionality Control Doctrine." *The International Journal of Human Rights* 22, no. 9 (October 21, 2018): 1168–91. https://doi.org/10.1080/13642987.2017.1411640.
- Delgado, Sergio Andrés Coronado. "El territorio: derecho fundamental de las comunidades afrodescendientes en Colombia." *REVISTA CONTROVERSIA*, no. 187 (2006): 48–81. https://doi.org/10.54118/controver.v0i187.165.
- "Derechos económicos, sociales, culturales y ambientales de las personas afrodescendientes," no. Comisión Interamericana de Derechos Humanos (March 2021): 112.
- Estupiñan Silva, Rosmerlin. "La Vulnerabilidad En La Jurisprudencia de La Corte Interamericana de Derechos Humanos: Esbozo de Una Tipología." In *Manual de Derechos Humanos y Políticas Públicas*. Red de Derechos Humanos y Educación Superior, 2014.
- Faúndez Ledesma, Héctor. *The Inter-American System for the Protection of Human Rights : Institutional and Procedural Aspects*. IIDH, 2008. https://repositorio.iidh.ed.cr/handle/123456789/201.
- Freire, German, Carolina Diaz-Bonilla, Steven Schwartz Orellana, Jorge Soler Lopez, and Flavia Carbonari. "Afro-descendants in Latin America: Toward a Framework of Inclusion." Washington, DC: World Bank, August 28, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1596/30201.
- Frigerio, Alejandro. "De la 'desaparición' de los negros a la 'reaparición' de los afrodescendientes: comprendiendo las políticas de las identidades negras, las clasificaciones raciales y de su estudio en Argentina." In *Los estudios afroamericanos y africanos en América Latina: herencia, presencia y visiones del otro*, 28p. Buenos Aires, Córdoba: Centro de Estudios Avanzados, Programa de Estudios Africanos, 2008.
- ——. "Quebrando La Invisibilidad: Una Evaluación de Los Avances y Las Limitaciones Del Activismo Negro En Argentina." *El Otro Derecho No. 41 (Mayo, 2010)*. Accessed March 27, 2023. https://www.academia.edu/4192025/Quebrando_la_invisibilidad_Una_evaluaci%C3
 - https://www.academia.edu/4192025/Quebrando_la_invisibilidad_Una_evaluaci%C. %B3n de los avances y las limitaciones del activismo negro en Argentina.
- "Full Article: Remaking Racial Inclusion: Combining Race and Class in Brazil's New Affirmative Action." Accessed March 25, 2023. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17442222.2014.915615?casa_token=n Wlvtvv27xMAAAAA%3AayVTE4I2kxjSTjWq-mG1pG5NSZKb0hZncPs2-uN0rJsdmP9N3rLOkq-65WGGfIPl85Yf4YRXHOPa.

- García Ramírez, Sergio. "The Relationship between Inter-American Jurisdiction and States (National Systems): Some Pertinent Questions." *Notre Dame Journal of International & Comparative Law* 5, no. 1 (January 1, 2015): 115.
- Gee, Gilbert C., and Chandra L. Ford. "STRUCTURAL RACISM AND HEALTH INEQUITIES: Old Issues, New Directions1." *Du Bois Review: Social Science Research on Race* 8, no. 1 (April 2011): 115–32. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1742058X11000130.
- Giraldo, Alberto Franco, Danilo Rueda, Liliana A. Avila, and Comisión de Justicia y Paz. "Alegatos Finales Escritos Presentados Por Los Representantes," March 13, 2013. https://corteidh.or.cr/docs/casos/MarinoLopez/alefrep.pdf.
- ------. "Escrito de Solicitudes, Argumentos y Pruebas Presentado Por Los Representantes de La Presunta Víctima," January 29, 2012. https://corteidh.or.cr/docs/casos/MarinoLopez/esap.pdf.
- Góngora-Mera, Manuel Eduardo. "Transnational Articulations of Law and Race in Latin America: A Legal Genealogy of Inequality." *Working Paper, No. 18*, 2012, 34p.
- González, Juan Luis Modolell. "The Crime of Forced Disappearance of Persons According to the Decisions of the Inter-American Court of Human Rights." *International Criminal Law Review* 10, no. 4 (January 1, 2010): 475–89. https://doi.org/10.1163/157181210X518965.
- Graham, Richard, Thomas E. Skidmore, Aline Helg, and Alan Knight. *The Idea of Race in Latin America*, 1870-1940. University of Texas Press, 1990.
- Hasenbalg, Carlos, Lélia Gonzalez, Elisa Von Randow, and Márcia Lima. *Lugar de negro*. 1ª edição. Zahar, 2022.
- Hernandez, Tanya. "Afrodescendants, Law, and Race in Latin America." *Faculty Scholarship*, January 1, 2020, 126.
- Hooker, Juliet. "Afro-Descendant Struggles for Collective Rights in Latin America: Between Race and Culture." *Souls* 10, no. 3 (September 12, 2008): 279–91. https://doi.org/10.1080/10999940802347764.
- ------. "Indigenous Inclusion/Black Exclusion: Race, Ethnicity and Multicultural Citizenship in Latin America." *Journal of Latin American Studies* 37, no. 2 (May 2005): 285–310. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022216X05009016.
- Huneeus, Alexandra. "Constitutional Lawyers and the Inter-American Court's Varied Authority." *Law and Contemporary Problems* 79, no. 1 (March 1, 2016): 179–207.
- ——. "Courts Resisting Courts: Lessons from the Inter-American Court's Struggle to Enforce Human Rights." *Cornell International Law Journal* 44, no. 3 (October 1, 2011): 493–533.
- Instituto de Estudos da Religião (ISER), and Centro pela Justiça e o Direito Internacional (CEJIL). "Escrito de Solicitudes, Argumentos y Pruebas Presentado Por Los Representantes de Las Presuntas Víctimas (Casos11.566 e 11.694)," August 17, 2015. https://www.corteidh.or.cr/docs/casos/favela_nova_br/esap.pdf.
- Inter-American Commission of Human Rights. "Alegatos Finales Escritos Presentados Por La Comisión Interamericana (Caso 12.066)," June 28, 2016. https://www.corteidh.or.cr/docs/casos/trab_hacienda_brasil_verde_br/alefcom.pdf.
- ——. "Alegatos Finales Escritos Presentados Por La Comisión InterAmericana (Caso 12.573)," March 13, 2013. https://corteidh.or.cr/docs/casos/MarinoLopez/alefcom.pdf.
- ——. "Escrito de Sometimiento Del Caso e Informe de Fondo Presentado Por La Comisión Interamericana de Derechos Humanos (Caso Nº 12.066)," April 3, 2015.

- https://www.corteidh.or.cr/docs/casos/trab_hacienda_brasil_verde_br/sometim_port.p df. "Informe de Fondo (No. 64/11, Caso 12.573)," March 31, 2011.
- https://corteidh.or.cr/docs/casos/MarinoLopez/informe.pdf. "Informe de Fondo (No. 146/18, Caso 12.906)," December 7, 2018.
- https://www.corteidh.or.cr/docs/casos/acosta martinez ar/2 informe fondo.pdf. -. "Informe de Fondo Presentado Por La Comisión Interamericana (Caso 12.428),"
 - https://www.corteidh.or.cr/docs/casos/fabrica_fuegos_br/2_informe_fondo.pdf.
- -. "Informe de Fondo Presentado Por La Comisión Interamericana (Casos 11.566 e 11.694)," October
 - https://www.corteidh.or.cr/docs/casos/favela_nova_br/informe_port.pdf.
- -. "Observaciones Finales Escritas (José Delfín Acosta Martinez y Familiares Vs. Argentina)," Mav
 - https://www.corteidh.or.cr/docs/casos/acosta_martinez_ar/7_ofe_cidh.pdf.
- -. "Observaciones Finales Presentadas Por La Comisión Interamericana (Caso 12.428)," **February** 2020. https://www.corteidh.or.cr/docs/casos/fabrica_fuegos_br/10_ofe_cidh.pdf.
- Jones, Camara Phyllis. "Confronting Institutionalized Racism." Phylon (1960-) 50, no. 1/2 (2002): 7–22. https://doi.org/10.2307/4149999.
- Keck, Margaret E., Professor of Political Science Margaret E. Keck, and Kathryn Sikkink. Activists Beyond Borders: Advocacy Networks in International Politics. Cornell University Press, 1998.
- Kleidermacher, Gisele. "Africanos y afrodescendientes en la Argentina: Invisibilización, discriminación y racismo," n.d.
- Kosař, David, and Lucas Lixinski. "Domestic Judicial Design by International Human Rights Courts." American Journal of International Law 109, no. 4 (October 2015): 713-60. https://doi.org/10.5305/amerjintelaw.109.4.0713.
- Maio, Marcos Chor. "O Projeto Unesco e a agenda das ciências sociais no Brasil dos anos 40 e 50." Revista Brasileira de Ciências Sociais 14 (October 1999): 141-58. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0102-69091999000300009.
- Malarino, Ezequiel. "Judicial Activism, Punitivism and Supranationalisation: Illiberal and Antidemocratic Tendencies of the Inter-American Court of Human Rights." Review 12, no. (2012): 665-95. *International* Criminal Law https://doi.org/10.1163/15718123-01204003.
- Marks, Susan. "Human Rights and Root Causes." The Modern Law Review 74, no. 1 (2011): 57–78. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2230.2010.00836.x.
- Martinez, Ángel Acosta. "Alegatos Finales Escritos Presentados Por Los Representantes," April 2020. 21, https://www.corteidh.or.cr/docs/casos/acosta_martinez_ar/6_afe_representantes.pdf.
- Martinez, Ángel Acosta, and Centro de Investigaciones Sociales y asesorías Legales Populares. "Escrito de Solicitudes, Argumentos y Pruebas Presentado Por Los Representantes de
 - Presuntas Víctimas," 2019. Las https://www.corteidh.or.cr/docs/casos/acosta_martinez_ar/3_esap.pdf.
- McCarty, Shane, Megan Liskey, Deepu George, Natalie E. Cook, and Jonathan M. Metzl. "Toward a Moral Reckoning on Structural Racism: Examining Structural Factors, Encouraging Structural Thinking, and Supporting Structural Intervention." American of Community Psychology 71, no. 1-2(2023): https://doi.org/10.1002/ajcp.12642.

- McCluney, Courtney L., Danielle D. King, Courtney M. Bryant, and Abdifatah A. Ali. "From 'Calling in Black' to 'Calling for Antiracism Resources': The Need for Systemic Resources to Address Systemic Racism." *Equality, Diversity and Inclusion: An International Journal* 40, no. 1 (January 1, 2020): 49–59. https://doi.org/10.1108/EDI-07-2020-0180.
- Ministério de Relaciones Exteriores, Comercio, Internacional y Culto. "Alegatos Finales Escritos Presentados Por El Estado," June 17, 2020. https://www.corteidh.or.cr/docs/casos/acosta_martinez_ar/9_afe_edo.pdf.
- Monkevicius, Paola Carolina. "No tenía que haber negros': memorias subalternas y visibilización entre afrodescendientes e inmigrantes africanos en Argentina." *PUBLICAR-En Antropología y Ciencias Sociales*, no. 12 (2012): 87–106.
- Movimento 11 de Dezembro, Justiça Global, Rede Social de Justiça e Direitos Humanos, Fórum de Direitos Humanos de Santo Antônio de Jesus/BA, Ailton José Dos Santos, Yulo Oiticica, and Nelson Portela Pellegrino. "Alegatos Finales Escritos Presentados Por Los Representantes." Accessed April 27, 2023. https://www.corteidh.or.cr/docs/casos/fabrica_fuegos_br/9_afe_representantes.pdf.
- Mutua, Makau. "Critical Race Theory and International Law: The View of an Insider-Outsider Symposium Critical Race Theory and International Law Keynote Address." *Villanova Law Review* 45, no. 5 (2000): 841–54.
- Nash Rojas, Claudio, Constanza Núñez Donald, Claudio Nash Rojas, and Constanza Núñez Donald. "Impacto Del Derecho Internacional de Los Derechos Humanos En La Protección Jurisdiccional de Grupos En Situación de Discriminación Estructural En Chile." *Estudios Constitucionales* 16, no. 2 (December 2018): 221–70. https://doi.org/10.4067/S0718-52002018000200221.
- Niño, Walter Fernando Pérez, Laura Sofía Zambrano Salazar, and Emerson Harvey Cepeda Rodríguez. "El impacto del control de convencionalidad en la jurisprudencia del Consejo de Estado colombiano en la reparación a víctimas de graves violaciones a derechos humanos." *EUNOMÍA. Revista en Cultura de la Legalidad*, no. 9 (September 28, 2015): 161–77.
- Organization of the American States (OEA). "INTER-AMERICAN CONVENTION ON FORCED DISAPPEARANCE OF PERSONS." Accessed May 8, 2023. https://www.oas.org/juridico/english/treaties/a-60.html.
- Paschel, Tianna S. "The Right to Difference: Explaining Colombia's Shift from Color Blindness to the Law of Black Communities." *American Journal of Sociology* 116, no. 3 (November 2010): 729–69. https://doi.org/10.1086/655752.
- Paschel, Tianna S., and Mark Q. Sawyer. "Contesting Politics as Usual: Black Social Movements, Globalization, and Race Policy in Latin America." *Souls* 10, no. 3 (September 12, 2008): 197–214. https://doi.org/10.1080/10999940802347707.
- Pasqualucci, Jo M. "The Evolution of International Indigenous Rights in the Inter-American Human Rights System." *Human Rights Law Review* 6, no. 2 (January 1, 2006): 281–322. https://doi.org/10.1093/hrlr/ngl004.
- Pelletier Quiñones, Paola. "La 'discriminación estructural' en la evolución jurisprudencial de la Corte Interamericana de Derechos Humanos," 2014. https://repositorio.iidh.ed.cr/handle/123456789/1346.
- PeñA, Yesilernis, Jim Sidanius, and Mark Sawyer. "Racial Democracy in the Americas: A Latin and U.S. Comparison." *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology* 35, no. 6 (November 1, 2004): 749–62. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022022104270118.

- Peria, Michelle, and Stanley R. Bailey. "Remaking Racial Inclusion: Combining Race and Class in Brazil's New Affirmative Action." *Latin American and Caribbean Ethnic Studies* 9, no. 2 (May 4, 2014): 156–76. https://doi.org/10.1080/17442222.2014.915615.
- Pombo, María Dolores París. "Estudios sobre el racismo en América Latina," n.d.
- Pou Giménez, Francisca. "La Igualdad Sustantiva Interamericana: Avances y Debates PendientesInter-American Substantive Equality: Steps Forward and Pending Debates." *International Journal of Constitutional Law* 19, no. 4 (October 1, 2021): 1241–47. https://doi.org/10.1093/icon/moab117.
- Powell, John A. "Structural Racism: Building upon the Insights of John Calmore A Tribute to John O. Calmore's Work." *North Carolina Law Review* 86, no. 3 (2008 2007): 791–816.
- Quijano, Anibal, and Michael Ennis. "Coloniality of Power, Eurocentrism, and Latin America." *Nepantla: Views from South* 1, no. 3 (2000): 533–80.
- Quillian, Lincoln. "New Approaches to Understanding Racial Prejudice and Discrimination." *Annual Review of Sociology* 32 (2006): 299–328.
- República de Colombia. "Alegatos Finales Escritos Presentados Por El Estado (Caso 12. 573)." Accessed April 18, 2023. https://corteidh.or.cr/docs/casos/MarinoLopez/alefest.pdf.
- ——. "Escrito de Contestación a La Demanda y Observaciones al Escrito de Solicitudes, Argumentos y Pruebas Presentado Por El Estado," May 23, 2012. https://corteidh.or.cr/docs/casos/MarinoLopez/contest.pdf.
- República Federativa do Brasil. "Escrito de Contestación Del Estado (Caso 12.428)," March 2019. https://www.corteidh.or.cr/docs/casos/fabrica_fuegos_br/4_contestacion.pdf.
- Safa, Helen I. "Challenging Mestizaje: A Gender Perspective on Indigenous and Afrodescendant Movements in Latin America." *Critique of Anthropology* 25, no. 3 (September 1, 2005): 307–30. https://doi.org/10.1177/0308275X05055217.
- Schwartzman, Luisa Farah. "Seeing Like Citizens: Unofficial Understandings of Official Racial Categories in a Brazilian University*." *Journal of Latin American Studies* 41, no. 2 (May 2009): 221–50. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022216X09005550.
- "Slavery in Brazil | Wilson Center." Accessed March 27, 2023. https://www.wilsoncenter.org/blog-post/slavery-brazil.
- Telles, Edward, and Stanley Bailey. "Understanding Latin American Beliefs about Racial Inequality." *American Journal of Sociology* 118, no. 6 (2013): 1559–95. https://doi.org/10.1086/670268.
- Telles, Edward Eric. Racismo à brasileira: uma nova perspectiva sociológica. Relume Dumará, 2003.
- Tzouvala, Ntina. "Settler Colonialism, Race, and the Law: Why Structural Racism Persists." *Melbourne Journal of International Law* 21, no. 2 (December 1, 2020): 469–89.
- Ventura-Robles, Manuel E. "EL CONTROL DE CONVENCIONALIDAD Y EL IMPACTO DE LAS REPARACIONES EMITIDAS POR LA CORTE INTERAMERICANA DE DERECHOS HUMANOS." *Revista do Instituto Brasileiro de Direitos Humanos*, no. 13 (December 15, 2013): 201–18.
- Wade, Peter. "Repensando el mestizaje." *Revista Colombiana de Antropología* 39 (January 1, 2003): 273–96. https://doi.org/10.22380/2539472X.1243.
- ——. "The Cultural Politics of Blackness in Colombia." *American Ethnologist* 22, no. 2 (1995): 341–57.

Weschenfelder, Viviane Inês, and Mozart Linhares Da Silva. "A Cor Da Mestiçagem: O Pardo e a Produção de Subjetividades Negras No Brasil Contemporâneo." *Análise Social* 53, no. 227 (2018): 308–30.